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ABSTRAGT

This work ;s a study of the administration of the North-
Province

West Frontieryfrom 1901 to 1919. Two aspects of the admini-
stration have been dealt: with: the British Government's re-
lations with the tribes of the frontier, and some important
aspects of the civil administration of the settled districts

of fhe Province. The first chapter deals with the formation

of the Province by Curzon in 1901, and his new frontier policy.
The s econd chapter in analysing the Govermment's relations with
the three most important Pathan tribes, the Mahsuds, the Afridis
and the Mohmands, shows how the new policy worked. The period
1915-1919 was dominated by the events of the First World War,
the impact of which on the Frontier has been described in the
third chapter. The fourth chapter traces the development of the
means of communication such as rocads and railways, which were
built primarily with military and strategic objectives. The fifth
and the sixth chapters deseribe the new land system introduced
by the British in the settled districts and the Government's
efforts to develop agriculture by irrigation projects. Educational
development formed an important item in the civil administration
of the Province; the course of this development and the edu-
cational policy of the Government constitute the theme of the

last chapter.
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INTRODUCTION

Thanks to its geographical position the North-West Frontiér
Province played an outstanding role in the history of British
India. The region which constituted the provincel is situated
between 31° and 36° north latitude and between 69° and 74° east
longitude. The extent of the Province, from north to south was
408 miles and from east to west 279 miles, the total area being
spproximately 38,919 square miles. To its north lay the Hindu-
Kush, %o the south Baluchistan and the Dera Ghazi Khan district
of the Punjab; FKashmir and the Punjab lay to its east and Af-
ghanistan to its west. Except the district of Hazara and part
of Kohistan which were cis—Indusg the rest of the Province was
trans~1ndus.2

The Province had a double boundary, the one administrative,

and the other political. The former separated the five administered

districts from the tribal territory and extended to the foot of

1In 1955 the Province ceased to exist, as it merged in the ‘one-

mit' scheme of Pakistan.

2For the Geography of the Province, see Census of India, 1911,
vol. XIII, N.W.F.P., pp. 5-7; 4ibid., p.192, vol. XIV, pp. 7-9}
Imperial Gazetteer of India, 1908, Provincial series, N.W.F.P.,
pp. 1-5, 11; 0.H.K.Spate, India and Pakistan, pp. 432-451; David
Dichter, The North-West Frontier of West Pakistan.




the mountains. The latter boundary, known as the "Durand Line"
marked off Afghanistan from British India. The intervening area
between the two boundaries was - and still is - occupied by
Pathan tribes.

The Province had two political divisions: the five regularly
administered districts of Hazara, Peshawar, Kohat, Bannu and Dera
Temail Khan with a total area of 13,419 square miles, and the
tribal territory with five political agencies -~ the Malakand, the
Khyber, the Kurram, Northern Waziristan and Southern Waziristan
and five 'tribal areas'., The Malakand agency included the front-
ier Chieftainships of Chitral, Dir and Nawagai. Thetribal terri-
tory had an area of 2500 square miles.

The physical features of the North-West Frontier ProVince
presented an extremely complex and varied picture. There were
three principal geographical divisions: first, the cis-Indus
district of Hazara extending north-eastwards into the Himalayas.
Its northern section was hilly, vwhile the southern part opened
out into the fertile plains of the Punjab., Second, the comparatively
narrow strip between the Indus and the hills, in which area lay,
from north‘to south, the four districts of Peshawar, Kohat, Bannu
and Dera Ismail Khan., The tribal territory between the districts
and the Afghan frontier formed the third division containing a

terrain, rugged; rocky and wild with lofty mountains and between




them deep, narrow and inaccessible valleys., The Political
Agency of Dir, Swat and Chitral lay between the Hindu Kush
and the border of Peshawar made up of mountains and valle&s
with but scanty cultivation. To Chitral's south lay the hills
of Dir and Bajaur and the fertile valleys of the Swat and
Panjkora rivers. The Mohmand hills, which were mostly without
vegetation, flanked the Malakand agency on the south-western
side. Further south was the narrow gorge of the Khyber pass
linking Jamrud,on thev?eshawarIXEﬁer, with the eastern boundary
of Afghanistan at Landi Khana. Still further south lay Tirah,
the home of the Afridis and Orakzais. The Kurram agency, a
fertile valley, was situated to the west of the Khyber agency
and extended from the high peak of the Sikaram and the Paiwar-
Kotal passes to the western end of the Miranzai valley o the
Kohat district. Further south could be seen the hilly area of
Waziristan, the Tochi valley and the plain of Wana. The Wazir
hills Jjoined another mountain range, the Sulaimans, which
dominated the Derajat.

The north-western hills of the Province had some very im-

1 . . . .
portant passes” serving for centuries as routes of invasion and

Lo, H.Holdich, The Indian Borderland - The Gates of India.

See also Strategical FEpitome of Routes on and beyond the N.W,
Frontier of India, P.S.D.L., B.252; A. S. Beveridge, "The Khyber
Pass as the Invader's Road for India%, J.R.C.A.8., 1926, pp. 250-
65, 368~T4.




trade between Central Asiaand the plaing of the sub-continent.
These passes invested the Province with gxeat strategic and
political importance; Baroghil and Dorah, the iwo impoxtant
passes, lay in the northern zone of the Hindu Kush ranges,

the former leading into the Pamirs and the latter into Afghani-
stan. Murther south lay a route leading fran the Kunar valley
into Bajaur, Swat and the Peshawar plain. In the southern =ne
of the Hindukush lay the femous Khyber pass, the mainroute of
communication between Afghanisten and the sub-continent. Further
gsouth the Peiwar Kotal and Shutargarden passes led to Kabul

and Ghazni. Then there were the Tochi and Gomal passes, the
latter much used by trade caravans from Afghanistan.

The Indus, which entered the Province north of the Black
Mounteins, was the principal river, draining almost the entire
territory of the Province,l and forming about two hundred miles
of e eastern boundary. Besides, the mountain streams of Hazara
flowing into the Indus, the river was fed by its most important
tributary, the Landai. The Kabul river was another important
source of water supply for the Province. Rising in the Hindu Kush
range about fortyfive miles west of Kabul, the river flowed east-

wards, crossed the Mohmand hills and entered the Peshawar district

1With the exception of Kunhar river in Hazara which falls into

the Jhelum river.
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at Warsak. The Bara river, which issued from the hills of Tirah
south of the Safed Koh range and drained the Afridi country,

fell into the Xabul river, and so did the Yarkhun, Chitral, Kunar,
Panjkora and Swat rivers which drained the territories of Chitral,
Dir, Swat and Bajaur. The Kurram river flowed down from the
southern slopes of the Safed Xoh; and -after crossing the Kuiram
valley and the Lower Wazir hills entered into the Bannu district.

The Tochi or the Gambila river watered North Waziristan.

abevid—

v . In population the North-West Frontier was,the smallest
province of British Tndia.' The 1921 census showed its total
:@ﬁ&dﬂﬁalv 2 :
individuals as 5,076,476.7 Of these about ninety two per cent

were Muslims and over seven per cent were Hindus and Sikhs. As
for the inhabitants of the Province, Dr. Davies has rightly ob-
served that

No ethnological problem is more complicated and in-

tricate than that which is presented by the North-

West Frontier of India.?

¥ Pathans predominated, including the tribes of the Yusufzais,

Mohmends, Afridis, Shinwaris, Orskzais, Turis, Bangashs, Wazirs,

' Baluchistan (799,625), Ajmer-Merwara (495,271), and Coorg

(163,838) had smaller populations than the North-West Frontier
Province. Census of India, 1921, vol., XIV, N.W.F.P., p.l1ll.

glt was estimated that the tribal territory contained fifty-
six per cent of the total population, ibid.

3C.C.Da.vies, The Problem of the North-West Frontier, 1890~1908,
p.57.
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Mahsuds, Bhittanis, Daurs, Khattacks and Bannuchis. The cis-

Indus district of Hazara had a mixed population, mainly of

Indien origin such as the Awans, Gujars, Tanaolis, Dhunds, and
Kashmiris. In the Dera Ismail Khan district, the Baluchi and

Jat tribes predomira ted. The Pathans of the settled districts

and of the tribal territory were similar, culturally, linguistically
and racially, but the former were regarded as far less unruly

and fTierce than the la.tter.l

The Tribal Territory

The administration of the Frontier region under the Sikhs
(1818-1849) had been of the "loosest type". The Sikhs

possessed but little influence in the trans-Indus
tracts, and what influence they had was confined

to the plains. Even here they were obeyed only in
the immediate vicinity of their forts which studded
the country.?2 '

11‘*‘01' a detailed ethnology of the North-West Frontier, see the
following works: Davies, op.cit., pp. 37-70; Olag Caroe,

The Pathans, pp. 3-42; J.W.Spain, The Pathan Borderland, pp.
39-100; H.G.Raverty, Bthnological Notes on Afghanistan;

G. Robertson, The Kafirs of the Hindu Kush; R. Warburton,

The Tribes of the Khyber Range: Afridis, Mullagoris, Shinwaris;
W.R.H.Merk, Report on Mohmands; L.W.King, Monograph on the
Orakgzai country and c¢lans; H.A.Rose, A Glossary of the Tribes
and Castes of the Punjab; A.H.McMahon, Heport on the Tribes of
Dir, Swat and Bajaur - together with the Utman-Khel and Sam
Ranizai; T. Barth, Political Leadership among Swat Pathans.

2Davies, op.cit., p.21.
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The Sikhs failed to establish peace end order in the Frontier;
the prevailing lawlessness among the tribes, their bitter
feuds leading to incessant violence and their unwillingness
to pay revenue which led to frequent armed encounters with
the rulers created a state of continuous anarchy.l

On the annexation of the Punjab by the British in 1849,
the task of establishing peace and order, the ensurancedf the
security of life and property, therefore, fell to the lot of
the Punjab authorities who were entrusted with the administration
of the Frontier region. This administration had two aspects:
the management of the tribes in order to ensure the security
of the mttled districts from freguent tribal raids; and the
civil adminietration of the settled districts. This arrangement
'continued until the formation of the North-West Frontier Province
in 1901,

?ﬁngritish policy on the North-West Frontier passed through
various stages. For over a quarter of a century, after the an-
nexation of the Punjab, the Punjab Government followed what came

to be known as the 'close-border! policy.2 The main feature of

1Census of India, 1911, vol. XITT, N.W,F.P., pp. 28-9.

2The relative merits and demerits of the 'close border' policy

on the Punjab frontier had often been compared with another

system adopted on the Sind frontier in dealing with the Baluch
tribes. Te exponent was Captain Sandeman. In 1877 the Baluchistan
Agency was created and Sandeman was appointed the first Agent




the policy was to guard the border cloéely with a view to keeping
raids an@ counsequent reprisals by military expeditions to the
minimum. Non-aggression on tribal territory and non-~interference
in tribal affairs were the declared objects of this policy. For
defensgive purposes a military force, called the Punjab Froatier
Force was raised under the supreme control of the Government of
the Punjab which in 1886 was amalgamated with the regular army.
The existing forts were repaired and new ones were built along
the administrative boundary and were connected together by a
military road. At the same time, various conciliatory measures
were adopted. Agreements were made with the tribes obliging them
to maintain peaceful and friendly relations with the Government
in return for subsidies and allowances. The tribesmen were allowed

entry into British territory and to trade freely, but British

the
tofﬁovernor—General in Baluchistan. The policy which Sandeman
followed wag described as "one of friendly and conciliatory inter-
vention", He occupied the central points in the agency by troops
and linked those points by good roads. He made friends with the
Baluch chiefs and made them responsible for the control of their
tribes. Railway and telegraph development was also undertaken.
Por discussion on the respective policies, see Davies, op.cit.,
pp. 33-5; Philip Woodruff, The Men who ruled India. The Guardians,
pp. 143-9; "Sind end Punjab Frontier Systems" by H.B.Frere,
22 March 1876, P,.S8.M., A.l2; H,T,Lambrick, John Jacob of Jacohabad,
Appendix B, .pp. 404-15,

14




officers were instructed not to cross into tribal territory.l
The tribesmen, however, frequently broke these agreements and
obliged the Government to stop the allowances, impose fines or
blockades and, when all-these proved unavailing, to send ex-
peditions into tribal territory. Between 1849 and 1899, the
Punjab Government had to undertake as many as sixty two ex-~
peditions.2

But this policy had to be abandoned in favour of what
came to be known as the '"Forward Policy! of the 'Nineties®.
The Russian expansion in Central Asia and her edvance towards
the borders of Afghanistan alarmed +the British who regarded
the Russian threat as "a very real" and " a very close" danger
to the frontier of India.3 Consequently the defence of India
had to be organised and this could be achieved by the occupation

of the "scientific Frontier" based on the Kabul/Kandahar line.4

1Davies, op.cit., pp. 18-36; L, Harris, British Policy on the
North-West Frontier of India, 1889-1901, Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis,
University of London, 1960, pp. 19-20.

EA complete list of expeditions is given in Harris, op.cit.,
Appendix G, pp. 433-40, See also Frontier and Overseas Bxpeditions
from India, vol. I; Tribes North of the Xabul River, vol. II,
North-West Frontier: Tribes Between the Kabul and Gomal Rivers,
P.S.D.L., B.2%4; H.L.Nevill, Campaieng on the North-West Frontier,

15

1849-1908; H.C.Wylly, From the Black Mountein to Waziristen.

SLytton to Salisbury, 16 July 1877, B.M. Add. MSS. 39164, vol.
CCXXXIV, Lazard Papers, Quoted by Harris, op.cit., p.384.

4'l‘his was the strategic line which the Government of India was to
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It was, therefore, necessary to control the passes in the
north-western hills, to improve the communication both in twribal
and British territory and to set up advanced military posts in
the tribal region with a view especially to facilitate the occupa-
tion of the strategic line. The implementation of this policy
involved the establishment of a workable relationship with
the Amir of Afghanistan and control over the frontier tribes.l
Under Lansdowne (1888-1894) and Elgin (1894-1899) the
Government of India took new measures for the defence of India.
A forward policy was followed in tribal territory.2 The Govern-
ment had already acquired control of the Khyber Pass during the
Second Afghan War (1878-80). In 1878 the Khyber Agency was created

3 of

and the Political Agent conductéd relations with the tribes
the Agency. In 1890, agreements were made with the Shiranis,
Mahsuds and the Darwesh Khel to open the Gomal pass in South
Waziristan for traffic. To guard the pass, tribal levies were

raised and levy posts built. In 1891, the Samana range was oc-—

occupy in case of a Russian move towards India or in the event
of domestic troubles in Afghanistan. See for details, Harris,
op.cit., pp. 384-96.

"Inperial Gazetteer of Indis, N.W.F.P., p.25
A 1lucid aiscussion is given in Harris, op.cit., pp. 22-41.

Z
)Afridis, Orakzais, Mullagoris, Shilmanis and Shinwaris.




cupied enabling the Government to éominate the Miranzai valley
and Southern Tirah. Here also posts were built and occupied
by the tribal militia. In 1892, the Turis let the British
acquire their country where a political agency was set up and
the area was brought under direct administration. The Kurram
militia was raised inl893., The acquisition of the Kurram
valley gave the British command of the Kurram route leading
over the Peiwar Kotal pass to Ghazni and Kabul.t

These forward moves on the Indo-Afghan border alarmed .the
Amir of Afghanistan and aroused his suspicions of the intentions
of the Government of India. Considerable uncertainty prevailed
regarding the respective spheres of influence of the two govern-
ments over the fribes. To resolve this, in 1893, the Durand
Agreement was concluded for the delimitation of the boundary
between India and Afghanistan. In 1894, a section of the bound-
ary from the Bashghal wvalley on the borders of Kafiristan to Nawa
Kotal on the junction of Bajaur and the Mohmand country was de-
marcated. Further south the demarcation could not be carried
out as the Amir was not prepared to accept the British proposals
regarding the Mohmand territory. The sction from the Kabul river
to Sikaram (Safed Koh) was also left undemarcated and it vas

not wntil 1919, after the conclusion of the Third Afghan Var,

1Da.vies, op.citse pp. 71-91; R.I.Bruce, The Forward Policy and
its results,; H. Harris, op.cit.

17
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that this ‘seetion. .was::. defined. From Kurram to the Gomal
river the line was demarcated in 1894-95,_but_on1y when an
expedition was undertaken against the Mahsuds, whose country,
the South Waziristan, was made a Political Agency in 1896.%
The Mahsud allowances were redistributed in return for their
pronise to maintain the peace and security of the Gomal Pass,
the construction of militia posts in a few places and their
undertaking to desist from raids into the British areas. 1In
October 1895, at the request of the Daurs and Wazirs of the
Tochi valley, the Government occupied their country and con-
stituted it into the North~Waziristan Agency. The Daur valley,
liké the Kurram valley, was brought under direct administration.
Simultaneously, the forward policy was pursued in the
north as well; the object was to secure control of passes in
the Bastern HinduKush. Since 1878 the British had exercised
some influence inthe area through the Maharaja of Kashmir, a
dependent ally of the Government of India. In 1889, the Gilgit
agency was formed. In 1892, taking adventage of the death of
the ruler of Chitral and the anarchy that followed, garrisons
were stationed at Chalt and Hunza. Three years later, Chitral's

external relations were taken over by the Government of India

1Harris, op.cit., pp. 108-137; Davies, op.cit., pp. 158-62.
See also P. Sykes, Sir Mortimer Durand.




and a permanent garrison placed at Chitral. British troops also
guarded the Malakand pass and the Swat river crossing. The
construction of a road connecting Peshawar with Chitral through
the Malakand pass, Swat and Dir was begun in B95. The Khan of
Dir and the tribes of Dir were given allowances inmwturn for
their undertaking to protect communications in their areas,
to provide tribal levies to guard military posts and to allow
the movement of British troops for relief operatims. This led
to the creation of the Malakand agency in 1896 consisting of
Dir, Swat and Chitral,l' Unlike other agencies, which were under
the Punjab Government, the Malakand Agency was put under the
direct control of the Government of India.2

The active forward move inthe trilal territory during the
'nineties' alarmed the tribesmen who fe;red that the Government
were out to destroy their cherished independence. Their reaction
took the form of a éﬁeat tribal uprising in 1897 involving the
Darwesh Khel Waziris, the Swatis, the Mohmands, the Afridis and
Orakgzais. This led the Govermment to undertake seven military

operations against the tribesmen in which 70,000 troops were

1Davies, Q oCito, Ppo 80"88.

2Lower Swat was directly administered by the Govermment vhile
Chitral, Dir and Bajaur had chiefs whowere the allies of the
Government.,

19
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engaged. The operations were “long, arduous and costly".l The
events of 1897 brought home to the Government the fact that

the frontier policy needed revaluation. Elgin's viceroyalty
having come to an end in 1898, Curzon launched upon a new
frontier policy with far-reaching results net only on British
relations with the tribes but on the administration of the settled

districts.

Administrative Territory

The problem which the Punjab Govermment faced inthe so~called
settled districts was of civil administration. After the annexa-
tion, the trans-Indus plains between the Indus and the hills had
been divided, for administrative purposes, into five districts,
stretching from north to south into the districts of Peshawar,
Kohat, Bannu, Dera Ismail Khan and Dera Ghazi Khan.2 Including
the cis-Indus district of Hazara, all six became the frontier
districts of the Punjab. They were organiséd into two divisions,
the Peshawar division in 1850 and the Derajat Division in 1861,

each under a Commissioner.3 A simple but efficient and forceful

1Davies, op.cit., pp. 91-8; Harris, op.cit., pp. 275~7. Tor offi-

cial published account of the operations, see G.V.Kemble, Operations

of the Tochi Field Force, 1897-98; H.F.Walters, OPerations of the

Tirsh Expeditionary Force, 1897-98; H.F,Walter, Operations of the

Malakand and Buney Field Forces, 1897-98. Also see H,D.Hutchinson,

The Campaign in Tirah; W.S.Churchill, The story of the Malakand Field Force.

2Dera Ghazi Khan was on the border of the Baluch country.

3The Peshawar Division included Hazara, Peshawar and Kohat districts




administration based on the non-regulation system was introduced
Under this system the district officers had more extensive
criminal powers than in a regulation province.l In addition,
the Deputy Commissioners of the frontier districts conducted re~
lations with the 4ribesmen of the adjoining tribal areas. After
the system of tribal agencies came into J‘.'o:c'ce,':a they were left
with only a few "tribal tracts" bordering their districts.

The British administrators introduced reforms in all branches

of administration including the police, justice, land revenue,

public works and education etec. in the new territory.3 But during

and the Derajat Division consisted of Bannu, Dera Ismail Khan
and Dera Ghazi Khan. Imperial Gazetteer of India, N.W.F.P.,
pp. 19, 58.

1The Cambridge History of India, vol. VI, pp. 90-3, 292.

%See pp. 13-4.
3’l‘he following works give some interesting accounts of the early
administrative activitiegﬁn the Punjab with special reference

to the British officers who formulated and carried them through.
They also throw floodlight on the conditions of the frontier
districts at that time and their gradual transformation under

the British. H.B.Bdwardes, A year on the Punjab Frontier;
H.B.Bdwardes and Herman Merivale, Life of Sir Henry Lawrence;

H. Pearson, The Hero of Delhi, The Life of John Nicholson;
G.R.Blsmie, Thirty five years in the Punjab; W.lLee-Warner,

The Life of the Marquis of Dalhousie; R.C.Temple, Men and Events

of My Time in India; Maud Diver, The Unsung; A.C.Taylor, General

Sir Alex Taylor:; R.Bosworth Smith, Life of Lord Lawrence.

21
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the rule of over half a century by the Punjab Government over
the Frontier districts, these areas had made slow progress

and were less developed in various fields of administration

than the cis-Indus areas of the Punjab. Their somewhat neg-
lected condition might be attributed to fhe Punjab Government's
preoccupation more with the problem of security, law and order
in the frontier districts than with other administrative matters.
Aéded to this, indeed, was the strategic importance of this
"outpost of the Indian Empire" where administrative developments
were subordinated to strategic necessities.

One of the first concerns of the new rulers was the pre-
servation of law and order and the suppression of crime., The
duties of civil police were invested in levies which were under
the control of the Deputy Commissioner in each district. These
levies were made up of local tribesmen who were chosen by their
chiefs and paid by the Government. This police force was gradu-~
ally changed into a regular police force. Village watchmen were
also appointed who helped the police in the prevention and de-
tection of crime.l Unlike the other districts of the Punjab,
the people in the trans-Indus districts were allowed to retain

their arms for the protection of life and property from the raids

1Imperial Gazetteer of India, N.W,.F.P., pp. 69-71.
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of the trans-~border tribesmen.l This system remained in force
till 1899-1900 when partiai disarmament of the districts was
undertaken.2 Another special measure which the Punjab Govern~
ment undertook for the administration of justice was the en-
actment of the Punjab IFrontier Crimes Regulation in 1872.
This regulation empowered the?Deputy Commissioner of a frontier
district to refer the question of guilt or innocence of an
accused person to a jirga (Cbuncil of Elders) convened accord-
ing to Pathan customs.3

The complex question of land revenue administration was
dealt with itk some vigour. The frontier districts were at
first put under summary settlements. The policy was to fix
the revenue at a low rate because the villagers were "“refractory,
and if pressed betake themselves to the hills".4 Besides the in-

fluential classes were treated with special concessions.5 The

1General Report on the Administration of the Punjab, 1849-50, p.37.

2Summary of Curzon's Administration. Foreign Department, North-
West Frontier Province and Baluchigtan, pp. 26-7, C.G., vol. 526;
I.F,P,P., No. 6648, ¥ebruary 1903, Proc. Nos. 75-80.

3Report on the Administration of the Punjab and its Dependencies
1873-4, Chapter IIT, p.21. This Regulation was superseded by the
Punjab Frontier Crimes Regulation of 1887 and again by the Frontier
Crimes Regulation of 1901, see pp.6t-%.

4General Repoxt on the Administration of the Punjab, 1849-50, pp.10-17.

5.S':‘Lr,James M. Douie, Punjab Settlement Manual (third edition), p.29.




period of the summary settlements of the frontier districts
lasted rather a long time until in the eighteen sixties it

was thought practicable to undertake the first regular settle~
ments, a time when revised settlements were being made in
nost of the other Punjab districts%

Closely linked with the systemalbation of land revenue was
the development of canal irrigation for agricultural improve-
ments. Tremendous progress had been made in this field in the
Punjab but, by comparison with the enormous irrigation works
constructed there, the irrigational projects in the Frontier
disgricts were much less conspicuous.2

The fostering of trade, commerce and agriculbure by con-
structing roads had, 100, been given some attention. On the
| Frontier, a further purpose of building roads and railways was
strategic. No sooner was the Punjab annexed than the Govern-
ment of India directed the Board of Administration to take
steps for laying out the military roads in the Frontier areas
and linking them with the rest of the Punjab. But the progress

made in the field was slow.3

Ypid., p.33.

2imperial Gazetteer of India, N.W,F.P., pp. 43-4. Also see Im-
perial Gazetteer of India, Punjab, vol. I, pp. 65-6, 126-7, 202-19.

3G-eneral Report o the Administration of the Punjab, pp. 21-3, 30-2.
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As for education,the Frontier districts made similarly
little progress. The organiéation of a Department of Publiec
Instruction in the Punjab took place in 1854 when it was put
unde¥r . a Director. The new educationa; system grew slowly
and institutions of all kinds were established% But edu-
cation in the Frontier Districts did not proceed beyond the
Secondary stage. Amongst the thirty-one districts of the Punjab,
the Frontier districts were by far the least advanced in regard

o educé.tion.2

It may be concluded therefore that in 1901, at the time of the

creation of the North-West Frontier Province under Curzon, the
Frontier districts were much less developed in allaspects of
administration than the remaining districts of the Punjab. The
object of the subsequent developments will be a subject of later

chapters.

The numerous works on the North-West Frontier which exist
are dominated by one theme: the political and strategic aspects
of the British frontier policy. Issues like the British reaction

to the Russian approach to the Indian border, British relations

1Imperial Gazetteer of India, Punjab, vol. I, pp. 133-44.

aReport on Popular Education in the Punjab and its Dependencies,
1889'—‘90’ P . ll .
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with the Amir of Afghanistan and the Pathan tribes have been
extensively studied over nanyfyears. Of the comparatively

modern works, Dr. C. C. Davies' The Problem of the North-West

Frontier, 1890-1908 (19%2) is the most authoritative. Written

more than thirty five years ago, it still holds the field as

the most lucid exposition of the subject, although due mainly

to the unavailability of some of the source materials the

author has not been able to deal with the various issues with
equal depth. For instance, while the Mahsud blockade of 1900;

1902 has been given sufficient space, British relations with

the Afridis and Mohmands have been treated rather briefly. Never-
theless over the years the book has provided the guide line for
all succeeding works on the subject. Another useful older work

is R.I.Bruce's The Forward Policy and its Results (1900) which

gives a good account of Robert Sandeman's policy in Baluchistan
and its application by Bruce in Waziristan. Of recent works,

L., Harris's thesis on British Policy o the North-West Frontier,

1889-1901 is worth mentioning as a competent study of the
Frontier policy in the nineties, the reaction it set off in the
tribal territory and the revaluation of that policy by the
British Government. Based on source materials to which Dr. Davies
had little access, Dr. Harris's work has filled certain gaps

which are found in Dr. Davies! book.
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There are three other general works, atse- of comparatively
recent date, the theme of which is the peoples of the Frontier

rather than British frontier policy. The Pathans (550 B,C., —

A.D. 1957 (1958) by Sir Olaf Caroe traces the history of the
settlements of the Pathans and their ethnology from ancient
times. The author's intimate association with the Pathans among
vhom he lived and worked for about twenty years and his love
and admiration for them is reflected in the book and makes it
absorbing reading. Unlike the authors mentioned earlier, Sir
Olaf has but briefly dealt with the administration developments
under the British but the book contains an interesting account
of some famous British officers who served on the Frontier.
However, Sir Olaf has made but little use of archival materials.

The Pathan Borderland (1963) by J. W. Spain, an American, is

an agcount 6fithe social and cultural life of the Pathans with
a summary of British frontier policy, the political reforms
in the Frontier Province, the problems faced by the Pakistan
Go vernment in the area and the progress achieved after 1947.

Arthur Swinson's North-West Frontier, People and Events, 18%9-

1947 (1967) is primarily intended for general readers. It pro-
vides no more than an attractive narrative of a few interestiﬁg
political and military events which took place in the region.

There is as yet no history of the administration of the




Frontier Province which deals not only with the course of the
British Government's relatims with the tribes (which is but

one aspect of the administration) but with the development

of the civil administration of the settled districts of the
Frontier Province as well. Nor is there any satisfactory account
of British relations with the fribes after the first: decade of
the‘present century. Such an account it has been my object

to write, eand the opening of the private papers of several
Viceroys, Chief Commissioners and others and of several series

of secret and confidential Government documents has made this
attempt possible. Since a comprehensive trealment of all aspects
of the administration of the settled districts is not possible
within the space allowed in a thesis I have concentrated only on a

few aspects of the administration.
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Ghapter I

THE  TORMATTION OfF THIE NORDH-JEST TRONITER PMWJCB

On assuming office as Viceroy in Janvary 1899 Curzon had to
deal with the two-fold problem of the North-WVest frontier of India;
the reorganisation of military defences, and the reform of the ad-
ministration of the trans—frontier districts. The frontier was
Curzon's forte. By wide travel and study he had acquired an
extensive knowledge of frontier problems and politics, particularly
of Central Asia, although he belonged to "neither school of Frontier
theorists“.2 HEven before coming to I,dia he had given indications
of not only his appreciation of India's frontier problems, but his
(hﬁretod&ﬁxﬁﬂlﬂmmaswdlﬁ

Soon after his arrival, Curzon took up the question of military
dispositions and the control of the tribes. Curzon's policy was,
first, the "withdrawal of British forces from advanced positions";
second, "the coneentrabtion of British forces in British territory
behind them as a safeguard and a suppori" and, finally, "the im-

4

provenent of communicatlions in the rear®. The regular garrison

1The subject of the formation of the North-West IProntier Province
(1901) is briefly described here since an extensive account of it
is already given by C. C. Davies in the gixth chapter of his book,
The Problem of the North-West Frontier Province 1890-1908, and by
L. Harris in the eighthend ninth chepters of his thesis, British
Policy on the North-l.st FProntier of India, 1889-1901, unpublished

2Ph.D. thesis, University of London, 1960.

Y, Edwardes, HighMoon of +the Empire, p.064.

jSpeech of Curzon in the House of Commons, 15 February 1898, D P,
vol. LIIIL, 1898, pp. 677-9.
4

T. Raleigh, Lord Curgzon in India 1898-1905, p.429; L. Fraser, India
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in Chitral was reduced, the troops being coacentrated at Kila
Drosh at the extreme southern end of the Chitral countyy.The
outlying posts were manned by the Chitrali levies themselves.
Tarther southwards, such posts were held by levies from Dir

and Swat for the security of theVDir—Chitral road. Regular troops
were stetioned at Chakdara, Malakand and Dargai to support the
levies. To strengthen the British position at Malakand a light
railway was constructed from Nowshergyto Dargai in POL. In the
Khyber all regular troops were withdrawn from advanced pesitions
and replaced by two battalions - 1,250 strong ~ of the reorganised
and enlarged Khyber Riflesl with an increased number of British
officers and an improved scale of pay. For their reinforcement a
flying column was maintained in readiness at Peshawar, and for its
support Peshawar was linked with Jamrud - a distance of ten miles
- by an extension of the broad-gauge railway, end with Landi-Kotal
by a road running Through the Mullagori coun‘cry.2 Between Peshawar
and Kohat a cart road was built through the Kohat pass. South of

Kohat a force of tribaymilitia - 450 strong -~ called the Samana Rifles

Under Curzon and Afber, pp. 39-55; Lord Ronaldshay, The Life of Lord
Curzon, vol. II, pp. 39-42; C, C, Davies, The Problem of the North-
West Frontier 1890-1908, with s survey of Policy since 1849, pp. 102-3.
On communications see chapter . \v .

Tsee chapter | , p.99.

See chapter \V , pp. 2l4-7.




wag raised under British officers. It was largely recruited from
the Orakzail tribesmen and formed a pairt of the Border Military
Police; the Samana Rifles replaced the mgular garrison of the
Samana Renge. Tn the Kurram valley the Kurram Militia was aug-
mented and reorganised in two battalions - 1,250 strong - on the
model of the Khyber Rifles. Both the Samana and the Kurram positious
were ©o be supported by a light railway to be conmstructed from Kphat
to Thal.l
Further to the south, two battalions of the VWaziristen Militia
-~ 800 strong each - were raised, one being for the Tochi valley or
North Waziristan, and the other for the Gomal valley or South Vaziri-
stan. The militia replaced the large garrisons of regular troops
which had beerfcept in these valleys since 1895, and were supported
by mobile columns garrisoned at Bannu and Dera lesmaill Khan. By
1904 ‘the new frontier defence policy was in operation along the
entire line from Chitral to Baluchistan.
The new military structurve, in the words of Curzon, had the
advantages of "reduced outlay, of increased tactical mobility, and
of tribal contentment".2 It relieved the soldiers of the Indian army

dul;
of arduous trans-frontier éﬁd left them, in the event of a war,

lSee\Chapter\V, p. 204,

2Curzon's Minute, 27 August, 1900, C.C., vol. 319, p.2.

31




32

to be concentrated on the two main routes to Afghanigan, Bolan
and Khyber. It was further hoped that the preseace of local garrisons
would reduce the chance of “commotion and reproach attached to mili-
tary disaster', besides increasing the tribesmen's attachment to
the British Raj through a service which would at the same time
. s T 1
nurture their patriotism.
The p ress in India and Ingland commended Curzon's Ffrontier

policy on economic and political grounds. The Times of India hailed

it as "the most important work" undertaken by the Viceroy “in the

2

domain oi the Indian Statesmanship®. The Spectator and The Times

approved the new policy, although the latter was not '"without
doubts as to the confidence and loyalty of the +tribal 1evies.5 Curzon's
own mood was one of cautious optimism., He was fully aware that his
frontier policy would not save the Govermment "from frontier war-
fare, or from occasional expeditions, or from chronic anxiety". His
plan,che claimed, was essentially one of "military concentration as
against diffusion, and of tribal conciliation in place of exgaperatinn“.4
Not only the military defences were reorganised, but to improve

the relations with the tribes some positive measures were also adopted.

1Govt. of India to Secy. of State, 26 October 1899, P.8.L.T., vol. 117,
Reg. No. 208.

2‘]Ehc-z Timeg of India, 8 August 1899.

“The Spectator, 12 August 1899; The Times, 8 August 1899.

4Extract from Curzon's Budget speech, 27 March 1901, Raleigh,
op.cit., pp.416-7.
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The frontier officers were given increased freedom to act on their
own responsibility and initiativer they were asked to cultivate
friendly relations with the tribes and to acquire by slow degrees
control over them; theylwere also required to deal with loeal
offences expeditiously.l

At the same time subsidies to the tribes were increased. It
was expected that the system of tribal militia and local levies
would make the tribesman responsible for the maintenance of peace
in his owa land; make his service to the Government "a guarantee”
for the "independence" of his land, and instil in him discipline
by close contact with British officers, vhich contact, in its
turn, would foster "mutual trust". It would mitigate to a certain
extent the poverty and uwnemployment in the tribél area.2 The policy
was an attenpt atv developing intimate knowledge of the tribesmen
and their affairs, improving their eonomic conditinn and in this

5

process gradually acquiring an influence over then.

1L. Harris, op.cit., pp. 343-4.

2Xn October 1896, the amount of allowances given to the North-Vest
Frontier tribes on the Punjab border, including payment to tribal
levies was Rs. 5,065,864, In Pebruary 1908, the graand total of
trivel, allovahces including payment to militia and tribal levies
swelled to Rs.-18,49,600 per annwi. L. Harris, op.cit., Appendix E,
pp. 427-30; TViceroy to Secy. of State, Tel. 24 February 1908,
P.S.5L.I., vol. 212, Reg. No. 458.

PCurzon' s speech at Peshawar, 26 April 1902, Raleigh, op.cit., pp. 424-5.




The success of his frontier defence scheme, Curzon was cer—
tain, depended on the reform of the administration of the trans-
frontier districts. The existing system of administration, he
saw, was full of '"complexities... anomalies and... ineradicable
flaws". The remedy, in his view, lay in the formation of a frontier
province: the trans-Indus regions had to be brought under “more
prompt, more imperative and more direct" control and authority
of the Govermment of India by the removal of the intervening barrier
of the "elaborate organisation" of the Punjab government.l

The idea was not Curzon's own. Throughout the last quarter
of the nineteenth century, schemes of different character had been
mooted by officials, submitted to and debated by the Government o
India for the formation of a new adminisirative unit on the frontiex.
Most of the fronkier experts of the time had égreed on the need for
such a unit.2 Yet, the fact that this much-desired change had not
been effected was a pointer to the complexity of the issue.

Trom the Mutiny uatil 1889, the froantier question centred on
the various proposalg to amalgamate Sind with the Punjab with a view
to co~ordinating the frontier policies of the two administrations.
From time to time schemes for the traansfer of Sind from Bombay to

the Punjab were submitted to the Government but ultimately dropped.

1Curzon's ninute, op.cit., p2.

2The experts were Bartle Frere, Henry Durand, General Roberts, James
Browm, Robert Warburton, Robert Sandeman, General Lockhart, Charles
Aitchison and George Chesney. See Curzon's Minute, op.cit., p.2.
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in 1876, Lord Northbrook's recommendations on the same issue were
accepted in principle by the then Secretary of State, Lord Salis-
bury., However, "the plan foundered, partly on the question of cost,
but more because of the opposition of the Bombay Presidency". The
Bonmbay government was not prepared to lose Sind unless compensated
by the transfer of other areas to its jma‘isdiction.]3 During
Lytton's viceroyalty the increased danger of Russian aggression
from Central Asia necessitated a "vigilantly precautionary frontier
policy“.2 Salisgbury strongly urged unity of action on the part
of the Government in the western and north-western frontier of
India by bringing it under the direct control of the Government

of India. Lytton in his well-known minute of April 1877 accepted
the Secretary of State's suggestion and sketched out a scheme for
the formation of a separate trans-Indus province which went far
beyond the original recommendations of the Secretary of State. The
proposed province was to consist of the six frontier districts of
the Punjab-Hazara, Peshawar, Kohat, Bannu (excluding the cis-Indus
traets), Dera lsmail Khan (with the same excaption) and Dera Ghagi
Khan - and trans-Indus Sind (excluding Karachi). This large province
was to be headed by a Chief-Commisgioner and Agent to the Governor-

General. Under him were to be two Commissioners, the one for the

Ibid., p.3. Also see Z.H.Zaidi, The Partition of Bengal and its
Annulment - a Survey of the Schemes of Territorial Redistribution

of Bengal (1902-1911), Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of London,
1964‘7 1)-27.

2Lytton's Minute, 'Reorganisation of the Frountier', 22 April 1877,
L.P.’ Vol‘ 8.
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Pathan, the other for the Baluch, tribes.l

Salisbury saw that Lytton's proposals were "measures of
defence and security, not of aggression", but since they in-
volved a huge axpense and "too lavge a change", he rejected
them. Alternatively, he proposed a compromise scheme: two Com-
missioners, the one for the trans-Indus Punjab, the other for
9ind, to be appointed directly by the Viceroy. In regard to ex—
ternal affairs they would correspond with the Viceroy direct,
while, in matters of internal administration, they wuld act
under the Punjab government.z salisbury's proposal met with
severe criticism. Charles Aitchison, the FPoreign Secretary of
the Govermment of India, and Robert Hgerton, the Lieutenant-Governor
of the Punjab, coandemned it as "full of the seeds of future mis-—
understanding, confusbn... divided responsibility'" and certain
to cause "the worst effect upon the internal administration of
the frontier districts".B Despite this criticism, Lytton accepted
Qalisbury's proposals. General Prederick Roberts was designated
the first Commissioner of the trans-Indus districts. But,soon af-
terwvards, the Second Afghan war broke out resulting in the termin-
ation of Lytton's viceroyalty. Ripon, who succeeded Lytton, abahdoned.

the scheme altogether.

"Ipia.
e ek
2Curzon's Minute,kp.Bi

2Thid.

m——




In 1889, when Lansdowne was the Viceroy, the Baluchistan
Agency was created with Robert Sandeman as its head; Sind
ceased to be a frontier province., 3Before laying down his office,
Lansdowne expressed the desirability of the creation of a single
frontier charge which should be entrusted to the management of
a single officer wnder the immediate direction of the Government
of India.

The tribal uprising of 1897-8, as has already been seen,l
underscored the need for the devachment of the ftwibal territory
from the Punjab administration and its pl acement under the direct
control of the Government of India to ensure its efficient manage-
ment, Hamilton, the Secretary of State, therefore suggested to
Blgin, who bhad taken over from Lansdowne in 1895, that

the present arrangements are not satisfactory, and

that it is desirable that the conduct of external

relations with the tribes on the Punjab frontier

should be more directly than heretofore under the
control and supervision of the Government of India.

Accordingly he proposed a scheme which provided that the Commissioner

of Peshawar and his subordinate officers responsible for dealings
with frontier tribes should act directly under the Government of
India, while in all matters of civil administreabtinn, he and his

subordinates would continue to be under the Punjab government. It

1See Introduction, pp.\G-20.

®Secy. ot Stede to Govt. of Tndia, 5 August 1898, C,C,, vol. 30L.
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was exactly the reproduction of Salisbury's scheme twenty-one
years before and met with an equally frosty reception from the
Punjab authorities.l It fell to Curzon's lot to deal with the
problem vhich had taxed the energies of the earlier Viceroys.
Curzon wag not the man to let matters drift. Before Lilgin
left India CGurzon had discussed the matter with him. In April
1899 he held discussions with the ILieutenant-Governor of the Pun-
jab, Mackworth Young, and other frontier officers. Curzon sug-
gested four possible solutions: first, the glatus quo should be
maintained; second, a separate frontier province and commission
should be created; third, Hamilton's compromise plan should be
adopted; fourth, the trans-frontier districts schould be divided
into five or six separate charges each under a political officer.
Curzon claimed that the opinion of the Punjab officers was in
favour of the creation of a separate province, while the Lieutenant-

Governor, though in favour of maintaining the gbatus quo, did not

seem either "unreasonable or immoderate“.2 Curzon, for himself,
maintained that the gtatus quo was unsatisfactory. The isting
system was such that the Viceroy, though directly responsible for
frontier administration, had to implement lis policy through the

medivm of subordinate officials who might well have no special

1Govt. of India to Secy. of State, 10 November 1898, P.S.L.I., vol. 109,
Reg. No. 207, C.C., vol. 30L.

%wwmlhnmmﬂhm,lZJmmmw,BAmﬁll%B,Cﬁ.,wﬁ.l%.
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knowledge of froatier affairs and over whose appointment, inter-
change or removal, the Viceroy had no control. In normal times
the Supreme Government did not imb erfere with the Punjab govern—
ment's handling of frontier affairs. But emergencies could arise
when they had to act and even assume entire control of the frontier.
such a control could hardly be effective as the Supreme Government
had to act through

agents who are not its own; while the Punjab goveran-

ment, dispossessed and sulky, stands on one side,

criticising everything that is done.l
Naturally Curzon felt gratified to have received what he called
"a unanimous pronouncement of the leading officials of the Punjab
government against their own syst@n“.2

In a serieé of private and official letters to Hamilton,
Curzon scathingly condemned the extremely unsatisfactory way the
frontier was being administered by the Punjab government. The
latter, he pointed out, had no idea of any frontier policy at allj;
the officers at lahore had neither any knowledge of nor any interest
in frontier affairs: fThe Punjab government showed "distrust" of
their own officers in the frontier areas which bred mutual dis-
agreement, "perpetual friction... inevitable blunder and... scandalous

Z
delay.“)

.i ‘]-.;bé*d:"

2Gurzon to Hemilbon, 5 April 1899, C.C., vol. 158.

3Gurzon to Hamilton, 9 March, 27 September 1899, ibid.
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In a minute dated 27th August 1900, "perhaps the most
elaborate written by a Viceroy“,l Curzon sketched out his scheme
for taking over the administration of the frontier from the Punjab
government and the constitution of a new province. In Curzon's
opinion the area between the Swat river and the Gomal valley was
the Most eritical, most anxious and most explosive section of the
entire frontier" of India. It was inhabited by the "most numerous,
fanatical end turbulent of the Pathan tribes". And in regard to
such an area, the Viceroy, who was the "Foreign Minister" of lIndia,
could not issue orders or meke an appoiniment except through the
Punjab government., This, Curzon asserted, was a most reprehensible
system:

I venture to affirm that there is not another country

or Government in the world which adopts a system so

irational in theory, so bizarre in practice, as to

interpose between its Poreign Minister and his most

important sphere of activity, the barrier, not of a

subordinate #ffideial, but of a subordinate Government,

on the mere geographical plea that the latter re-

sides in close proximity to the scene of action - a

plea which itself bresks down when it is remembered

that for five months in the year the Supreme and the

Local govermments are both located & the same spot,

Simla.?

Curzon felt that the officers posted to the frontier did not possess

the necessary qualifications ad training. Nor could they gain

1Edwards, op,cit., p.1lll.

2Curzon‘s Minute, op.,cit., ».8.




enough experience and specialised knowledge for they did not

serve long enough on the frontier. He pointed ocut that the five
Lieutenant-Governors of the Punjab since 1877, who had to their
credit the total cumulative service of 145 years at the time of
their appointment as heads & the Punjab government, had only

served in the froantier districts for the total cumulative period

of twenty months. None d the Chief Secretaries of the Punjab
government between 1878 and 1899 had, at the time of égéir appoint-
ments, any experience of political service in the frontier at all.l
Curzon, therefore, believed that the Punjab government's personngl
was not specilally equipped with the requisite knowledge and exper-
ience of the frontier. The officers of the Punjab Commisgion, the
Viceroy went on, due to the wider scope of promotion in the Revenue
and Finance Departimentg, did not like to serve on the frontiex,

for it was a tedious, risky and less remunerative job. There was
much "departmental irresolutioan" in the administration, and the
"dissipation instead of concentration of responsibility". where
"vrapidity of actinn and swiftness of executim® were so essentiel,
the long official chain and numercus links of references made prompt
action impossible. It was wrong to suppose, said Curzon, that the

L |

interposition of the Punjab government between the Supreme Government

1 . .
Curzon's Miaute, op.cit.,p.9.
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and the Frontier involved "a wise and necessary decentralisation".
On the contrary, it led to "centralisation of the pettiest and most
exasperating description". Three factors were respongible for
this: the indecision of the Punjab govermment, "the timidity" of
ite junior local officers, and the restrictions on the initiative
and autlority of these officers. Curzon concluded that the existing
s&stem of frontier administration

oada

atteauates without diminishing vthe ultinate re-
sponsibility of the Government of India. It
protracts without strengthening their action. It
interposes between the Moreign Minister of India
and his subordinate ageuts, not an Ambassador, or

a Minister, or a Consul, but the elaborate mechan-
ism of & Local Government, and the necessarily ex—
alted personality of a Lieutenant Governor... Worked
as the system has been with uwnfailing loyalty and
vith profound devotion to duty, it has yet been the
source of friction, of divided counsels, of vacil-
lation, of exaggerated centralisation, of inter-
minable delay.l

The remedy lay, Curzon was convinced, in the creation of a new
province, consisting of the trans-Indus districts of Peshawar,
Kohat, Bannu, Dera Ismail Khan, and the political sgencies of Dir,
Swat and Chitral with headquarters at Malakand, Khyber, Kurram,
Tochi and Wana. The inhabitants would be as far as posgble Pathan
only.

The head of +the new administration would be a Chief-Commissioner

and Agent to the Governor-General, appointéd by and directly subord-

1 . . -
Curzon's Minute, op.cit., p.13.




inate to the Govermment of India. He would reside at Peshawar,

and would be agsistedd by a Revenue Commissioner and a Judicial

Commissioner. A small commission would be set up to deal with

matters regarding the recruitment, replacement and promotion of

officers in the new province. The frontier of ficers would cease

to belong to the Punjab Commission, being brought within the

graded list of the Political department of the Government of

India. However, the Divisional and District Judges and Settlement

Officers would be borrowed from the Punjab ox from other provinces.

For other departments, such as Bolice, Jail, Medical, Hducation,

Trrigation and Public Works, and the subordinate establishments

of all departments, Curzon would take over Yemporarily the whole

or the bulk of theexisting staff of the Punjab government serving

in the area of the proposed province. The Viceroy expecied that

in return for the employment of the officers of the Punjab Commission

in the new province, the Punjab government might be willing to

employ educated Pathans of good family in the Punjab civil service.l
The plan for the new province having been set out, Curzon

proceeded with meeting some objections to the project and emphasising

its compensating advantages. Hamilton, in his despatch of 5 August

1898 had raised four possible objections to a new frotier province.

1Curzon’s Minute, op.cit., p.20. Note by J. G. Lorimer on the diffi-
culties connected with the scheme of a New Frontier Agency, 3 Sept-
ember 1900, C.C., wl. 319.
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The first was that the scheme would have the effect of breaking
up the established administrative units of the Pynjab and dis-
turbing, in particular, the revenue system in the Peshawar, Kobhat
and Bannu districts. The proper functioning of the revenue system
needed pecially-trained officers such as were ndt ordinarily
available in the Political Depariment. To overcome this difficulty,
Curzon proposed that the new province would coantinue to get offi-
cials with experience in revenue matters from the Punjab. In this
vay the revenue administration of the frontier districts would be
left undisturbed.l

Hamilton'g second objection was that the creation of a nevw
province would entail "“a succession of territorial rectifications
and compensations'. Curzon did not regard it a valid objection for
the change did not warrant any compensation to the Punjab. The
new province, Curzon pointed out, would take away only one-fourteenth
of the Punjab's total area, one-fifteenth of its total revenue,
and a little less than one-eighteenth of its entire population.2
In the circumstances the question of any territorial coppensation

to the Punjab, he said, 4id not arise at all. MNoreover the districts

1Ourzon's Miaoute, op.cit., pp. 20-21.

2The area, population and revenue of the Punjab according to the
1891 census were as follows:

Area Population Revenue
rupees
148,966 sq. miles 25,130,127 27,5%2,972
Tor the districts to be withdrawn from the Punjab: '
Area Population Revenue
T Tupees)

10,691 sq. miles 1,365,575 1,875,847
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proposed to be detached did not belong to the Punjab either geo-
graphically, historically oxr ethnologicallf; they were in-
habited by entirely different peoples having different modes and
standards of 1life. These esgentially different conditions dtaining
in the area had, in fact, been recognised by the Government as in-
dicated by the operation of special rules and regulations in the
frontier districts.l Besides, Curzon went on, the making of Baluchistan
into a separate administration, the inclusion of Chitral and Dir with-
in. the British sphere of influence, the Durand Agreemen%z and the
consequent political protectorate over Waziristan had "revolutionised
the state of affairson the frontier". These developments had changed
the nature of frontier work which had become mainly political so as
to bring it within the sphere of the Supreme government. Consgideratioans
of compensating the Punjab government for the loss of its jurisdiction,
Curzon contended, should no longer stand in the way of the long over-
due change. He dismissed these pleas ag being superfluous and re-
inforced his arguments against any compensation by referring to the
opinion of F, D. Cunningham, the Commissioner of Peshawar who in 1898
had remarked:

the population, revenue, trade and wealth of the pro-

vince é?ungag/ have so increased since the question
of a separate Frontier Commissionership was mooted

"See pp22-3,

“see p.T.




sone 20 years ago under the Government of Lord

Lytton, that what would be left to the Punjab

after removing Hazara, Peshawar, Kohat and a strip

of the Derajat is still sufficient to congtitute

an administrative area of the first class.t

Hamilton's third objection to a new proviace was that it
would deprive the Punjab government of awluable opportunity of
training officers for the ¥Frontier service and of acquiring know—
ledge of the tribesmen. Curzon maintained the contrary view: the
creation of a Frontier province would offer greater opportunities
for such training than had hitherto existed as the officials
would belong to a separate Political Departmeant of the Government
of India. An officer displaying excepbtional ability in tribal
deal ings would have no fear of being withdrawm, unless his services
were required for a more responsible post of a similar nature in
Baluchistan or in the Pplitical Department of the Supreme Govern-
ment. On the other hand, an officer lacking in aptitude in dealing
with the tribesmen could be easily transferred to another place
in the Foreign Department. It could be expected that a "fresh
goal of ambition" would lie in front of political officers; that,
in the near future, the new Province would attract the best men in
the civil and military service and phat it would be “the nursery of

a new school of political officers who would revive the memories

1 . . n e iy =
Quoted by Cuzwon in his Minute, op.cit., p.23.
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and credit of bygone days".l

Tinally, Hamilton had held that the change would lead to
a "forward and aggressive policy" on the part of the Goverament.
This Curzon rejected as an “entire illusion", contending that,
in the past, the intervention of the Punjab government had not
acted as a barrier against "a forward policy" or saved the
Supreme Govermment from punitive agpeditions or from Frontier
var. The fifty years control of the Pynjab government over the
Frontier, he asserted, had neither preventied the forty military
expeditions against the tribes nor held back the rapid forward
move of the Govermment into the tr ibal territory.2

Having dismissed the objections raised by the Secretary of
State, Curgzon proceeded to convince the members of his Cowcil.
Copies of his Minute were sent to each member of the Viceroy's
Council at the end of August 1900. A special meeting of the Council
was held on 10 September 1900 for final discussion3 and, three
days later, Curzon's Minute with a covering despatch was sent %o
the Home government "with an expression of our unanimous and hearty

agreement with its main provisions".4 In a mood of relief Curzon

1 . oy
Curzoa's Minute, op.cit., p.25,.

2Curzon's Minute, op.cit., p.27.

“Hote by Curzon, 27 August 1900, C.C,, vol. 3109.

-

Govt. of India to Secy. of State, 13 September 1900, ibid.

4%




wrote to Arthur Godley, the Permanent Under Secretary of State
at the India Office:

Uy Frontier Scheme is finished and done at last.

I feel like an Eton boy who has got through trials.

Be kind to it and help it on. I t would break my

heart if it were now to fall through.l

Even though Curzon had claimed the "unanimous and hearty
agreement" of his officers he, in fact, had not bothered to con-
sult the Lieutenant-Governoxr of the Punjab, Mackworth Young, be-
fore he sent his proposals to the Secretary of State. The Vice-
roy's explanation of why he kept the matter fram the Lieutenant-
Governor was that the latter being "slow, very sensitive' and
"very disputatious" would have taken the measure as "a wilful
diminution of his prestigeor even as a "personal affront". He
would have "violently protested" against +the scheme, incited
an sgitation both in India and in England, and rendered its pass-—
age through the Council difficult.2 But after sending off the
despateh to the India Office, Curzon privately informed Young about
his scheme and assured him that if it received the approval of
the Home government he would have with the Lieutenant-Governor
tfnll and immediate" consultations concerning the details of the

o
plan and show the most scrupulous regard for the traditions, ianter-

—

ests and feelingfof the Punjab government and of Young himself.j

1Curzon to Godley, 12 September 1900, ibid., vol. 159.

2Curzon to Hamilton, 15 August 1900, C.C., wl. 159.

3Curzon to Young, 15 September 190C, ibid., vol. 202,
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Naturally the Lieutenant-Governor's reaction was one of anger and
surprise; he had expected that Curzon would give him a chance
of expressing his opinion gbout the issue before any formal pro-
posals were made to the Secretary of State. Young blamed Curzon
for having ignored him altogether and for showing want of confidence
in him.l

In January 1901 the government of India, after having received
the sanction of the Home authorities to their scheme officially
informed the Punjab government and solicited their "hearty co-
operation in its execution.2 The relations between the Viceroy
and the Lieutenant-Governor had now become extremely strained, the
latter maintainiung that from the constitutional point of view the
Viceroy's not having consulted the Punjab goverment was an "un-
precedented" procedure and that it involved "a most dangerous

. 5 . e as . . .
doctrine". Young was indiscreet enough to give vent to his bitter-
ness and wrath in public, which embittered his relations with the
Viceroy still further. Curzon heard from "several persoas" that

Lady Mackworth Young entertained "Dhitter feelings" and had said "bitter

1Young to Curzon, 20 September, 1900, C.C., vol. 202; Lt. Governor,
Punjab to Viceroy, Tel. 20 September 1900, ibid.

Govt. of Tndia %o Govt. of Punjab, & Januvary 1901, ¢.C., vol. 338.

“Govt, of Punjab to Govi. of India, 13 February 1901, ibid.
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things" about him, snd he believed that she had "vilified and

abuged® him al.l over Simla. These incidents wunded Curzon

deeply, &d it was long before they were "edfaced from his re-
collection".” Wot only the ILieutenani-Governor nimself but his
subordinate officers also took the decision of the Supreme Govern-
ment as a pemsonal slight. When‘Curzon's Minute was published
Herbert Fanshawe, the Commigsioner of Delhi and an ex-Chiel Secret-—
ary of the Punjab,:resignéd, feeling that " a great public indig-
nity had been thrust upon the Z?unjab7 adninistration as unnerited
as it was ungenerous”.2 The appointment of Colonel H. Deane as

the first Agent to the Governor-General in the new province gave
further offence to the Punjab government. Deane was then Political
Agent of the lialalzand agency. Curzon considered him , by his ex-
perience and qualifications, to be the best officer outside the Pun-—-
jab Commission to head the new province. Young objected to Curzon's
choice, pointing out that the two Frontier Commissioners, I, Cunning-
ham aad ¥. H. Merk, were the most senior officers in the Punjab
Commissionex., Deane was juniox to both the officers by thirteen and
ten years respectively and had served under them. TYoung recommended

)

that either Cunninghanm or Merk be given the post. Curzon rejected
P d

L. Baring (military secretary to Viceroy) to Lady Young, 23 Septem-—
ber 1901; M. Young to Curzon, 30 September, 1901, C.C., vol. 230.

2Curzon to Hamilton, 11 June 1901, C.C., vol. 16l; The Spectator,
15, 22 June 1901L.
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the recommendation; Cunninghamwas about to retire and Merk
did not appear to the Viceroy to be a suitable choice.L Deane
was "highly thought of" in the India Office and his proposed
appointment was received favourably there.2

Deane was asked by the Viceroy to thrash out a plan ©o
make the new province “independent, self-contained and self-
supporting“.3 Accordingly Deane recommended the inclusion of
the Maansahra, Abbottabad and Haripur tahsils of Hazmara district
in the new province not originally included in the scheme., The
reasons given for this incorporation were that, leaving aside
the Abbottabadtahsil, Hazara was a frontier district. It was a
vart of the Peshawar administrative division where the same
Border Military Police System and the Froantier Crimes Regulations
were in force. A considerable proportion of the inhabitants of
Hazara was of Pathan extraction. DMNoreover Hagzara would provide
the base for the political control over the Cis-Indus Black Hountain
tribes. In addition, Hagzara would provide a good sanatoriuwm in
sunmer for the Agent to the Governor-General and his officers and
would bring thewhole of the Punjab Frontier Force with its Head-

gquarters at Abbottabad within the local limits of one single civil

lCurzon to Hamilton, 15 August 1900, C.C., vol. 160.

2Curzon to Young, Tel.4 February 1901, U.C., vol. 203.
5

Scheme for the Administrationof the N.W.F.Province, p.l, ibid., vol.

320.




adminisﬁration.l
Young, as.could be expected, was critical of the scheme
contending that the severance of the districts of Peshawar,
Kohat, Bannu, Dera Ismail Khan and Hazara from the Punjab would
be unpopular with the people and the chiefs of the districts alike;
that the "miniature administration" of the new province, apart
from involving considerable expense,would be far from efficient;
that the Chief Commissioner would not be able to give equal
attention to his political and administrative duties, and that
under the new scheme the border districts would be reduced to a
"~ status of an “Wincoavenient a.ppendage“.2
Curzon dismissed Young's views as the "belated ~édition®
of his protest against the formation of the new province.5 He
also rejected Young's request that the severasnce of the frontier
districts from his charge be put off until March 1902 when he
would retire, The Viceroy. was eager to inaugurate the new ad-
ministration without any delay because, as he said,
The uwnfortunate attitude of M. Young is knowm every-—
where in the Province, the idea had been widely dig-

gseminated that the lLocal and Supreme Governmentis are
at loggerheads with each other; that the Lieutenant-

Ypia., p.a.

2Young's Memorandum on the Scheme for Administration of the W.W.F.
Province, 15 July 1901, C,.C., vols. 320, 321, 338; P.S.M., A 154;
P.5.L.T.,, vol. 135, Reg. No. 124.

i’
“Gurzon to Hamilton, 17 July 1901, C.C., vol. 161,
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Governor has successfully defied the Viceroy; and

that it is possible_that the new scheme may still

fall to the ground.
The only way to disprove these apprehensions was to bring the new
administration into existence with as little delay as possible.
The North-West Prontier Province, therefore, came into being

on the King's birthday, 9 November 1901.2

The formal inauvguration
of the Province took pleace five and a half months later, on 26
April 1902, when Curzon held a big durbar (reception) of three
thousand dignitaries of the area in the Shahi Bagh at Peshawax.
Curzon's address to the assembly was a full statement of his frontier
policy. He told his audience that the Viceroy's presence in person
on the occasion was proof of his interest in the new province and
his sympathy with the new work. He hoped thd +the creation of the
province would lead to “the peace and tranquillity and contentment
of the Frontier". Its control by the Govermnment of India "instead
of somebody else™, the Viceroy asserted, would be advantageous both
for the Govermment and the froatier people.

Business will be better done and more quickly done;

and there will not be long and vexatious delays. The

system of rule will not be altered, but it will be

more efficiently worked. Everﬁﬁan in the Frotier
districts ought to look upon it as a dirvect gain o

Tpia.

2Viceroy to vecy. of State, Tel. 29 October 1901, P.S.L.I.,
vol. 138, Reg. No. 1276.
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himself that he has a local government on the spot,

and that there is nobody above that local Govern-

nent but the Government of Tandia... Merit will be

better knowa under the new gystem, service will be

more quickly rewarded, abuses will be more promptly

checked, responsibility will be more strictly enforced

and punishment, when punishment is needed, will be more

swift.L
The Viceroy called upon the leading men of the Provinoce to co-operate
with the local administration especially in the deteotion and
punishment of violent crimes to help the Goverament attain their
object of establishing peace and order in the Province. Curgzon
assured the durbaris +that he would watch the new adminisitration
"with a fond and parental eye"', see to it that the "local pride
and local patriotism" were "jealously guerded" and that the
Province showed itself "ever more and more deserving of the inter-

est that has secured for it a separate existence and an independent

3
alt &
name'.

The haad of the Horth-Uest Prontier Province s a Chief-
Commissioner and Agent to the Governor-General, appointed by and
directly responsible to the Government of India., The Chief-Commissioner

had a dual duty to perform wvhich constituted a uanique feature of

the administratimof the Province. In his capacity as the Agent to

1 R C . : o
Swummary of Curzon's Administration, Foreign Dent., N.W.F.P. and
Baluchistan, Part II, p.21, £.C,, vol. 526; Raleiph, op.cib., ».427.

2
Ibid., pp. 427-8.
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the Governor-General, he controlled the political relations

with the border wibes, while as the Chief Commissioﬁer, he exer-
cised the same powers in the civil administration of the Proviance
as the heads of other provinces did in their chaj;‘ge‘,:L The staff

of the Chief Commissioner consisted of members of the fadian Civil
Service, Military officers of the Political Department of the Govern—
ment of India and the Punjab Commissiony,imembers of the Provincial
and Subordinate Civil Services, Police officers ad officers speci~
ally recruited for the departments such as lMedical, Education,
Public Woxks, Forest and Jails ete. The Chief Commissioner's
principal advisers were the Judicial and Revenue Commissioners.

The Judicial Commissgioner headed the judicial administration of
the province, his court being the highest Civil and Criminal appel-
late tribunal which replaced the Chief-Court of the Punjab. Sub-
ordinate to the Judicial Commissioner were the two Divigional and
sessions Judges of Peshawar and the Derajat. As Divisional Judges,
these officers decided most of the appeals in civil suits from

the "Courts of first instance. As Sesgsiong Judges, they fried
Sessions cases, with the aid of assessors, and heard criminal appeals.
The Revenue Commissioner was the controliing and final appellate
revenue authority in the province., He had also to &t as the Re-

venue and Financial Secretary to the Chief Ccmmissioner, besides

1Imperial Gazetteer of India: North West Frontier Province, pp. 57-8;
Davies, op.cit., p.112; Scheme for the Aqminisiration of N.V.F.P.,
1901, op.cit., p.l. '
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being the Director of I.and Records and Agriculture, Commissionex
of Excise, vuperintendent of Stamps, Registrar-Gemeral, Inspector-—
General of Registration and Registrar of Joint Stock Companies.
No chanze was weffected in the subordinate revenue agency. Bach
of the five districts remained, as before, under a Deputy Com-
and vhe ftahsils of Thal in Kohat and Tank in Dera Jsmail Khan
formed subdivisions, each in charge of an Assistant or Extra-
Agsistant Commissioner. Each of the five political agencies had
a Political Agent. In the Kurram, Northern and Southern Waziristan
Agencies, the Political Agents exercised the powers of District
Magistrates and Court of Session in dealing with criminal cases.l

The administration of the Province had certain distinctive
features which were indicative of the special treatment which the
Government thought the area deserved in wview of its political and
strategic importance. The first such feature was that not only
was the Province itself under the Foreign and Political Depariment
of the Goverament of India but the higher posts of Chief Commissioners,
Deputy Commissioners and Political Agents in the Province were mainly
mamned by officers in the Political Deparwent and by men who had

< g . - 2 . . o
political experience. and training. The first Chief Commissioner

1;@;@., pp. 9-163; Imperial Gagetteer of India: North-West Frontier
Province, p.6l.

2Between 1901 and 1921 the position of military officers who held
the post of Deputy Commissioners in the five districtswas as follows:




was Colonel (1ater Sir) Harold Deane. From 18385 to 1895 he was
Assistant Commissioner in charge of the Yusufzai subdivision of
the Peshawar digtrict and the Deputy Commissioner of the district.
Between 1895 and 1900 he acted as the Political Agent of the Dir,
swal end Chitral agencies. Deane's long record of service smong
the Pathans enabled him to know the people well, to speak their
language and to command their respect and confidence. His poli-
tical experience, combined with his strong personality and fear-
less character, had influenced Curzon's decision to give him the

charge of the Province in preference to his seniors in the service.

Curzon regarded him as "an ideal rulexr®™ of the new Province, who
was "modest, cool, alert, well-balanced, a master of his subjects
4 H > 1 i ] H 2
and his men" and who inspirved "both affection and respect!, Deane
remained in office for over six and a half years before being suc-

ceeded, in June 1908, by Li. Col. G. Roos-Keppel, who sgince 1900

in Dera Ismail Khen there had been thirty-four changes between
twenty~five persons and on fifteen occasions military o fficers
held the post. In Bannu there had been thirty-three changes
between twenty persons and on ninetveen occasions military officials
held the post. In Hazmara there had been twenty changes between
fifteen persons and on twelve occasions military officials held
the post. In Kohat between 1909 and 1915 there had been eighteen
changes and on nine wcasions military officials held the post. In
Peshawar since 1908 there had been eighteen changes between thirteen
persons and on ten occasions military officials held the post.
N.W.F.P. linguiry Committee Report, 1924, pp. 45-6.

l‘&‘Jho yas Yho, 1897-1916, p.188; Olaf Caroce, The Pathans, pp. 421-2.
See also supra, p.50-.

2Curzon to Hamilton, 30 April 1902, C.C,, vol. 161.
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had been Political Officer in Khyber.l Lord Minto, the Governor-—
General, selected him mainly because he was "an expert in tribal
administration" who wielded remarkable personal influence with
the Afridi tribes. Though Minto liked Michael O'Dwyer, the Revenue
Commissioner of the Province, he did not give him the Chief-
Commissionership because, as the Governor-General himself put it,
the pressing need of the ... Province is tribal
administration and not the furtherance of revenue
questions - as yet at any rate.?
There was an adverse reaction in the Political Department on Roos—
Keppel's appointment "over the heads of 50 seniors or even over
80", Besgides, Roog-Keppel had no experience of civil administration.
But John lMorley, the Secretary of Ltate, approved of Minto's choice
because he said. "Peshawar requires" a man like Roosfi’;eppel.5 Roos-
Keppel remained in o ffice until 1819 when he retired.
Another striking feature of the administration of the Pro-
vince was that it had always a budget deficit. From 1901 to 1910
the revenue and expendituve of the Province was wholly Imperial.
It was hoped at the time of the formation of the Province that its

finances would be provincialised by a "quasi-provincial contract"

1
History of Services Punjab, 1919-20, pp. 148-9.

2Iviinto to Morley, 4 June 1908, M.P., wvol. 16.

3'I"’Io:t:}_tsz;;r to Winto, 16 July 1908, ibid., wol. 3.
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as soon as possible but, because there was no "sufficient data
to go u.pon”,l the hope remained unfulfilled. Ia 19C9 the Do~
centralisation Commission bvook up the lssue and recommended a
guasi-provincial settlement for the Province @ the lines of
Baluchistan,2 and the recommendation was accepted by the Govera-
ment in 1910-1Ll. dccording to this settlement, the local ad-
ministration was assigned revenues under major heads such as
land revenue, stamps, excise, forest, registration, police,
medical, Jalls, educatlon etic. In the event of expenditure ex-—
ceeding the assigned revenues, the difference was to be made up
by a fixed recurring grant from lmperial xevenves. The Govern-
ment of India also took the responsibility for providing the
expenditure under the "political subsidies!", “refugees and state
prisoners'" and "salaries of éfficers borne on the cadre of the
Political Department". In regard to the assigned revenve and
expenditure, the Chief Commissioner was empowered to exercise

-

the same powers as the heads of other local governments.) The

N

1 - . .
Summary of Curzon's Administration, op.cit., ».24.

2 ‘s —
Revort of the Decentrasliation Commission, parva 147.

jSecy. to Govt., of India to Roos-Keppel, 5 November 1909, Merk to
Secy., Govi. of India, 13 May 1910, Depy. Secy. to Govi. of India
to Chief Commissioner, 24 November 1910, I,F.P.P. (Estéblishment),
vol. 8515, March 1910, Proc. Nos. 60-6%, December 1910, Proc.

Nos. 66-7L. See also I1.P.W.P. (Accountent-General), vol. 8727,
April 1911, Proc. No. 1, vol. 8728, August 1911, Proc. Nos. 1-6;
I.F.P., vol. 8759, November 1911, Proc., Nos. 612-3,




revenue increased sbteadily, but the expenditure of the admini-
stration rose mapidly, too, with the result that the budget
always shoved a deficit.l The large excess of expenditure over
revenue vas attributed to the

geographical position and political importance

of the Province, considerations of imperial

policy calling for special outlay under poli-

tical... police, spublic, general administration

and civil ¥orks.2
The government's main expenditure lay in matters relating to
the tribal tracts and border defence, the largest increases in
this expenditure appearing, necessarily, under Political and

Police, which dincluded the tribal allowances, maintenance of

tribal levies and the Border Military Police which was reorganised

L The North-lest Frontier Province Revenue and Bxpenditure
Year Revenue Expenditure Deficit
Rs. Rs. Rs
1902--03 45,40,924 74,92, 646 29,51,722
1910-11 46,57,275 99,30,435 52,753,160
191920 70,85,845 1,80,20,927 1,09,3%4,082

The Administration Reports of the N.W.F.P,, 1901-0%, p.57, 1910-11,
p.20, 1919-20, pp. 206-7.

Imperial Gazetteer of” India: North-Vest Frontier Province, p.62.




in 1912-1% as the Prontier Constvabulary. The figures belowl
show that the "principal rise in expenditure", since the forma-
tion of the Province, had been due to the need for the "protection
of India's land froni:ier".2
The pecvliar feature of the judicial administrationof
the Province was the Frontier Crimes Regulation, "an exceptional
and somewvhat primitive" Regulation, as the India Office described
it.3 It was enacted in 1872 by the Punjab government and was re-
vised in 1887 and 1901l. The Regulation empowered the Depuby Com-
missioner to wrefer both civil énd criminal cases to Council~ of
Elders, called the Jirga. The Jirga was a twaditional indigenous
institution for administering justice recognised and resorted to

by the tribesmen themselves. The government, in a modified form,

1 Selected Items of Revenue and Bxpendibure
Item 1902-0% 1910-~11 1919-20
‘Rs. R, Rs.
Revenue Land Revenue  17,26,%02  20,%2,731 20,28,510
Irrigation 1,553,755 7,63,302  13,58,273
Stamps and
Excise 5,811,876 8,80,210 17,29,717
Bxpenditure Political® 20,97,106 52,14,115 5%,11,652
Law and '
Justice 5,84,080 7,02,020 11,3%,049
Police 10,677,104  15,59,8L6 41.,0%,262
Education 29,937 1,61,796 8,81, 295
Civil Works 26,041 2L,5%,735 21,352,755

(roads and
buildings)

The Administration Reports of the N.¥.F.P., 19003, p.57, 1910-11,
p.20, 1919-20, pp.26-7.

2N.W.F.P. Enquiry Committee Report, op.cit., p.20.
51.J.P.P., 1901, vol. 579, Reg. no. 18l5, India Office's Comment on




preserved and made use of the institution in the ettled districts
as x@il as in the administered tracts of the political agencies.
Under the Regulationy a Jirga consisted of three or more persons,
nominated and appointed by the Deputy-Cémmissioner., The latter
referred a civil case to the Jirga if he was convinced that the
dispute would cause blood-feud, or murder, a breach of peace o
some other mischief, especially if a frontier tribe were involved
in the dispute. The Jirge was required to make an on-the-spot in-

vestigation and to submit a report of its findings to the Deputy

62

Commissioner. If thexeport were acceptable 1o the Deputy Commissioner

he passed a decree which, however, had to be agreed upon by not
less than three-fourths of the Jirga mehbers. TIf the Deputy
Commissioner did not agree with the findings of the Jirga, he could
remand the case again to the Jirga for a further enquirvy, or refer
it to emother Jirga. Disputes involving local customs,matrimonial
infidelity and claims for debts etc. could be disposed of by the
Jirga without recourse to the ordinary law courts, so that the
vakils and pleaders were dispensed with. The systemlad the practi-
cal advantage of securing decisions with the assistance of those
who had the best knowledge of actual incidents and of local custonm.

in regard tvo criminal cases the Deputy Commissioner's opower of

the Froatier-Crimes Regulation, 1601,
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nonination of Jirga menbers was limited in ome respect: the
accused vperson had the right 1o object to any nominated member

of the Jirga. The maximum penalty for a criminal offence was

. . . . . 1
fourteen years rigorous imprisonment or transportion for life.

Wo appeal could be made to a higher court against the ultimate
decision of the Deputy Commissioner, but it was common to petition
“he Chief Commissioner requesting him Yo review the Deputy Com-
missioner's decision,i Section 21 of the Regulation provided

for the blockade of hostile or wnfriendly ftribes., The usefulness

of the Regulation was emphasised by the Frontier Enquiry Committee .
(1924) thus:

To repeal 1ts civil sections would be to inflict
grave hardship on the Pathans, wyho rely on then for

a cheap and expeditious settlement of their dis-
putes by a Jirga... To repeal the criminal sections
would be to undermine the forces of law and order

and to deprive the Hindus, in particular, of one

of bthelr greatest safeguards, in a land where passions
are hot, blood feuds are endemic, legal evidence is
exceedingly difficult to obtain, and refuge from

the arm of the law is close to hand across the border.
To repeal the trans-frontier sections would be to
paralyse our whole system of trans-froantier control.a

1. . . - . . -
Ibid., the Regulation, sections 8~12. Imperial Gazetteer, op.cit., p.6l;

Davies, op.cit., pp. 53-4; James, V.5pain, The Pathan Borderland, pp. 145-7.

aﬂ.H,F.P., ngquliry Committee Report, p.27.
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THZ RELDATIONS VUITH THE PRONTTIER TRIB

The main object of Curzon's lorth West Frontier policy was
to ensure law and order upon the Dorders of settled British terri~
tory. He sought fto achieve this end by securing the "pacification
and contentment! of the frontier tribes. One great question was
what mixture of force, threat of force, diplomacy or material in-
ducement would best produce that pacification and contentment.

The othexr, of course, was how far the means chosen could be recon-
ciled with the naintenance of good relations with the Amir of Af-
shanistean, with vhose considerable influence over the trlbesmen
the British had always to ieckon. UWot all areas of the frontier
were of equal miiitary sensitiveness, nor were all the tribes of
such strength of strategic importance as to be able vitally to af-
fect the success of Curzgon's policy. The evolution of that policy
will therefore be congidered in relation to Waziristan, and the
country south aud north of the Khyber and to the inhabitants of

these reglons, the Mahsuds, Afridis and Mohmaunds.

The Mahsuds

The first area to be considered is Waziristan, the southern
ortion of the area of mountains which forms part of the Horth-iest
p ¢

T'rontier. Waziristan is.situated between the Kurram river oa the
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north, the Gomal river on the south, the Durand line on the west,
and the administrative border of the Bannu and Dera-Ismail Khan
districts on the east. Its strategic importance lies in the fact
that it dominates the Tochi and Gomal, two historic routes from
Afghanistan to India. The southern half of the area is a tangled
mass of mountains, cut and iatersected by ravines. "There are
well defined ranges which protect the interior of the country by
double barriers, and make penetbration into it a matter of extreme
difficulty." Uorth Waziristan, on the other hand, is richer and
more open, consisting of large and fertile valleys separated by
high barren hills.

Veziristan is inhabited by several tribes, éhe most important
ofwhich are called by the generic name Vaziris. In origin the
Mahsuds are Waziris, but by the British period they were for all
practical purposes considered to be a separate tribe. The inaccessi-
bility of Waziristan has always prevented any close contact with The
ruling power of either India or Afghanistan, and its inhabitants
boast that "they never owned the sway of any sovereign“,l The Mah-
suds occupying the central portion of Wazmiristan are of particularly
independent nature, 4nd i1f the isolation of Wazmiristan has pro-

duced, in Denys Bray's words, the "economic stringency, the crass

1Gazetteer of the Tochi and Northern Waziristan, 1898, p.91, C.C.,
vol. 309.
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ignorance, and the wanton insolence and barbaric cruelty that
springs from a sense of security', the Mahsuds were considered
to share these attitudes in full measure.l
On their annexation of the Punjab in 1849 the main problem
of the British government regarding the border had been the defence
and security of the settled districts of the Punjab from trans-
frontier marauders.2 It was not deemed politic to maintain direct
relations with the Mahsuds nor was it held to be advantageous to
interfere in their affairs., Instead the: Covernment decided to
deal with them through intermediaries like the Nawab of Tank, who
were thought to have considerable influence over them. But this
method of keeping the tribes quiet proved a short-lived and un-
successful expedient, for the Mahsuds, in March 1860, attacked Tank.
The Governmment of India thereupon fell back on force and launched
an expedition. Nor some years hereafter order prevailed.3
But the campaign had another result. Having once entered
the tribal lands the Punjab government became involved in Mahsud

affairs. In 1865-66, therefore, the new experiment was tried of

1Denys Bray on British policy towards the Frontier tribes, 5 March
1923; C. H. Philips, ed., The Evolution of Tndia and Pakistan
1858—194‘ ? .p L 4‘966

[ AR AL PUL

2. \ .

See Introduction, pp.\3-K.
)Evelyn Howell, A Monograph on Goverament's Relations with the lahsud
tribe, 1931, p.1, P.5,D.L., B.295; V. H. Paget and 4. . lason,
Record of bxveditions acaingt the Worth-est Frontier since the
Annexation of the Punjab, ».503.
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settling & number of Mahsuds on lands allotted to them in Tank
and in return of making then responsible for border defence. Thic
experinent, too, proved uasuccessful, whereunon the Punjab sovern-
nent assumed "direct control of border affairs“.l

During the second Afghan War (1878-80), the frontier was
creatly disturbed and the tribes once again became troublesome.
In January 1879 the Mahsuds burnt Tank. An expedition was then
sent, and the Mahsuds were compelled to make the reparations de-
manded by the Goverament. By this time a new factor had been intro-
duced into frontier politics: +the British fear of Russian aggression.
Consequently, the non-interventionist policy hitherto followed gave
way to 'Torward Policy'. In 1887-88, a survey expedition was sent
vp the @omal pass to secure this strategic line of communication.
But, the attempt having failed, a new policy was tried. In 1889-90
Robert Bruce, the Deputy Commissioner of Dera-Ismail Khan, aand later
the Commissioner of the Derajat, proposed a plan to control the Hah-
suds through their own tribal organisation. A& policy of control
through tribal leaders had been triéd with success in Baluchistan
by Robert Sandeman.2 Now a similar scheme called the 'Malili systen'
was introduced by Bruce for Waziristan, The leading laliks were

selected by Bruce and graded according to their supposed power and

1H0well, op.cit., pp. 1-9.

2See PP 13-l fine
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influence and paid allovances by the Government. In return they

were required to supply a number of tribesmen for service as

levies to guard the Gomal pass, to control the tribe as a body,

and to surrender individual criminals to the Government for trial,1
But, according to Dr. Davies,Bruce committed three mistakes

in introducing the 'Maliki system' in Wazirvistan. First, unlike

Sandeman, Bruce did not occupy some central points in Waziristan
Secondly, Baluchis and Brahuis had powerful tribal chiefs who
could coantrol them whereas among the Mahsuds no such powerful
chiefs existed. JAad lastly, the Mahsuds were much more democratic
compared with the Baluchis which made the former extremely difficult
to con‘crol.2

These factors soon made the 'Maliki gystem' face a hard test,
In 189%, a British officer was assassinated by the Mahsuds, The
offenders were tried by The jirga and sentenced, which infuriated
a faction of Mahsuds with pronounced anti-~-British feelings. They,
under their leader, Mulla Powindah, attacked the Maliks who had
tried the murderers of the British officer. Three of the Maliks were

killed and others were forced to flee the country. The Punjab Govern-

Y4, 2. Merk to Govt. of the Punjab, 24 July 1900, P.S.L.I., vol. 127,

Reg. No. 1169; C. ¥ Aitchison, A Collectiorof Treaties, Engagements
and Sanads, vol. XTI, p.160,

ZDavies, op.cit., pp, 34, 124-5.
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ment urged that a punitive expedition be undertaken but, as the
Supreme Govermment were busy with frontier “demancation under the
Durand Agreement concluded in 1893, this course of action was not
adopted. However, soon after, in 1894-95, the Government of India
were obliged to mount their third expedition against the Mahsuds
following an attack on Wana, which had come under permanent British
occupation in 1894, The expedition was a success and in 1895 the
whole of Wazirigtan was brought under British political control,
Political agents were posted at Wana and Tochi with garrisons at
Hana and Miranshah,l The Government also continued their policy
of giving allowances; tThese were now increased2 on the undertaoking
by the Naliks of general good behaviour of the tribesmen, their
desistance from attack on British territory or vrotected aress such
as Gomal, ana, Spin and Zarmelan, surrender of criminals to the
Governnent, and readiness to serve under the British in any vart

of the comntry. For three years after this, the Hahsude reomained

+

cenerally quiet; they did not cven narticinate in the great tribal
- o 1anT an D
wrising of 1807-938,

But the turn of the century saw a resumption of Mahsud out-

rages in British territory. Government troops were ambushed and

)

1. : . . o
T, Harrvis, e British Policy on the Worth-lest Frontier of India,
1889-1901, pp. 138-190, unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, University of
London, 1960.

2?"04 Rs, 51,228 to a total of Rs., 61,548,

?See DP. G- 20
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attempnts made on the lives of British political officers. The
man behind all these troubles was believed to be Mulla Powindah.
However, in the absence of any positive evidence,no punishment
could be inflicted except the enforcement of tribal responsibility
by the imposition of a fine.1 Apart from the Hulla's complicity,
the Mahsud outrages were attributed to their receiving the allow-
ances from the Government which enabled them to buy rifles and

to the activities of the Mahsud colony in Dera Ismail Khan°2 This
colony, as one of the border chiefs described, was a "school of

badmashi opened by the Government for the instruction of our young

3
ment,

This was the situation in Waziristan when Curzon ftook over as
Viceroy. The Govermment had not yet evolved a sound policy, and the
best method of dealing with the local tribesmen was "still a matter

4

of experiment®, Curzon's Viceroyalty witnessed a change in the

Goverament's policy towards Mulla Powindah and the Mahsud tribe in

1Howell, op.cit., pp. T-13.

21n 1896, R. I, Bruce, the Commissioner of Derajat, allotted 5,500
acres of land in the Tank tahsil of the Dera-Ismail Khan district
to Mahsud Maliks for the settlement of Mahsuds as tenants on this
land.

3T_\Tote by Watson, Political Officer, Wana, 14 Mhy 1900, P.S.L.I.,

vol. 127, Reg. Wo. 1169; UNote on the Mahsuds by Pipon, Asst.

“Commr.,, Tank, 1 February 1902, P.S.L.I., vol. 143, Reg. No. 473.

4Govt. of India to Govt., of the Punjab, 16 May 1900, P.S.L.1.,
vol. 127, Reg. Wo. 11069,
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peneral. In the middle of 1900 the Government of India hestowed
a monthly allowance of one hundred rupees on the Mulla to "destroy
L6 ,
st tyeS 3 OT at any rate greatly reduce"" his influence and prestige among the
Saafﬁﬁ >tribesmen, who were expected 1o look dowm upon a religious man
seeking to advance his own material interests by accepting the
ignoble position of a British stipendiary.l Though the Government
was thus ready to buy peace with the Mulla, whom Curzon nevertheless
labelled "a first rate scoundrel', V. R. Merk, the Commissioner of
the Derajat was dissatisfied with the Maliki system as a wvhole,
In July 1900 he pointed out to the Punjab govermment:
There is something radically wrong... in the present

system., Ve move in a vicious circle. We look to
the Maliks and they look to us. DBetween the two the

v s i

management of the Mahguds falls to the ground.
Herk proposed that allowances be paid to the tribe and not to some
gselected Maliks, and that the Government should deal with the tribe
as a whole and enforce tribal, instead of individual, responsibility
in case of offences. The practical advantage of the method, he argued,
wvas that every member of the tribe would become interested in con-

2]
trolling the bad characters,®

1Frontier and Overseas xpeditions from Iadia, IL, p.437, Note by
Curzon, 20 June 1900, C,.C., vol. 308, Govt, of India to Secy. of

2

Mexrk to Govi., of the Punjab, 24 July 1900, P.S8.L.I., vol. 127,
Reg. Wo. 1169. For tribal responsibility system, see Davies,
op.cit., ».125. |
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The argument about & change in the Haliki system was given
further urgency by the continuation of Mahsud raides. DRarly in
September 1900, therefore, two conferences were held at Simla
attended by Curzon, Young, General REgerton, the Commander of the
Punjab Frontier Porce, and Herk to discuss the Mahsud problem. It
was decided that the lMahsuds should be given a period of grace

within which to malte a sebtlement with the Government, and that

I

ailing comnliance a blockade of the whole tribe should be imposed
al the beginning of December 1900, WMerk's recommendation to dis~—
continue the Maliki system was also accepted; in future the Gov-

b

ernnent would deal with the tribal or sectional Jirga te whom the
subsidy would be paid; a porticn of the subsidy, however, might
be rescrved for certain individuals whose interests were impossible
to dgnore.

In Cctober 1900 the Government imposed a fine of ome lakh of
rupees on the Mahsuds for the offences committed by them.z On 8
November 1900, lNerk summonéd a great Jirga of the MHahsuds at Tank.

The Maliks declared themselves helpless and requested that their

country be taken over by the Government; this, however, was not in

1Note by Curzon in the Military Dept., 9 August 1900, Note by Curzon,
10 September 1900, C.C., vol. 308; Govt, of India to Govt. of the
Punjab, 18 October 1900, P.S,L,I,, vol. 127, Reg. No. 1169,

2Govt. of the Punjab to Gové. of India, 23 October 1900, P.S.L.I.,
vol., 141, Reg, No. 203; Govbt. of India to Govt. of the Punjab,

Tel. 25 October 1900, ibid.
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accordance with the wishes of the tribesmen. Werk then announced
the terms of the Goverament to the assembly, and the tribe was
given fifteen days to discuss them.l The Kaliks consulted the
tribe but with no result. The time of grace was over and the
blockade duly began on 1 December 1900 with the avowed object of
starving the tribe into submission.2 The blockade lasted until
March 1902, In the initial stages it failed in its purpose; the
HMahsuds continued both to waid and trade. Hventually in November
1901, active operations were mounted against the tribe - and suc-
cessfully. The Mahsuds came  their senses. On 16 January 1902,
they sent in a deputation to tender submigsion. The terms offered
by the Government were the payment of the fine of one lakh of
rupeesin full, the return of all rifles looted and all cattle taken
Z

during the blockade, and the surrender of certain outlews.”

On 5 March 1902 Merk met the Hahsud jirg

a
i

at Tank, The Jirga

appointed and despatched two hundred chalveghtis (Mahsud tribal

police) for the arrest of the ouftlaws demanded by the Government.
On the promise of future good behaviour and the acceptance of tribal

b I

responsibility, the jirga was permitted to disperse with orders to

1Commissioner, Derajat Division,to Govt. of the Funjab, Tel. 38 Nov-
ember 1900, ibid.

2Commissioner, Derejat Division, to Govt. of Punjab, Tel. 1 December
1900, ibid.

3G. B. Unwin, History of the lahsud Blockade, 1901-~02; Davies, op.
cit., pp. 128~32; P.P,, 19024 LXXT, cd. 1177.
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reasgemble at Tank on 24 March 1902.1 On 10 March, the blockade

was raised and on 24 March Deane, the Chief Commissioner, accepted

the formal submission of the Mahsuds and announced the restoration
T 2

of their allowances.

In Deard s view blockade was not a very effective method for
dealing with hostile tribes, and he certainly did not feel that
the Mahsud blockade had been a success. He argued rather, that

u - . - . re
the punitive expedition remaing and will remain as the best /gource
for enforcing peace on the frontier". Deane was not sure that
even this extreme measure would be a guarantee for the future be-
haviour of the tribe

whose record for all time has been one of thieving

and raiding and who for years past have terrorised

their neighbours, and it may be that restless and

turbulent spirit in the tribe may again prevail.”

This was Curzon's feeling, too, for he commented that the HMahsud
problem had not been solved either permanently or teamporarily, that
before long the CGovernment might be comvelled to take coercive
measures against the 'l:ribe.Ar

Merk, however, still hoped to conciliate the tribe through

allowances. Accordingly, on 5 April 1902, he distributed the tribal

Ter to Deane, Tels. B, & March 1902, P,S.L.X., vol.143, Reg. Ios.

473, 543-4, T

-
“levlke to Govi. of India, Pel. 10 Karch 19¢2, ibid. ifote by Jurszon,

& larch 1962, ¢,C,, vol. 303,

“Dezne to Govi. of India, 27 March 19C2, P.S,.L.I., vol. 144, Reg. lo.

Mote by Curzon, 8 April 1902, G.C., vol. 303.

B
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payments. Cut of the total sum of Rs. 61,000, Rs. 54,000 were
equally apportioned among the three sections of the Mahsuds -~ the
Alizai, Bahlolgai and Shaman Khel. The balance was meserved for
tGistribution among the dld Maliks as rewards for heir services
to the Government. MNerk regarded the arrangement as satisfactory
and reported to the Governmenb:

So far as T am able to judge the Mahsuds have not

the slightest intention of permitting any one to

do what may lead to the forfeiture of the tribal

allowances and to the rescission of the present

settlement... If nothing unforeseen occurs, I

see no reason why the settlement should not work.

There will be difficulties of course... but one

may reasonably hope that they will bhe overcome

and that affairs will go swmoothly 1till they become

matters of routine.l

This proved, however, to be too optimistic a view. Within
three months of Mexrk's settlement, Johnston, the Political Agent
of Wana, was pointing out the inadequacies of the arrangement
and forecast its failure. Merk had laid down that the payment
of fines by the three sections of the tribe was to be made in ex-
actly the same provortion as the distribution of allowances among
them. He had thus stretched tribal responsibility for offences

to a point where even the innocent had to share the punishment

with the guilty. He also argued that the sum reserved for the

1Merk to Deane, 12 April 1902, P.S5.L.I., vol. 147, Reg. No. 1073;
Aitchison, op.cit., pp. 160-1.
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deserving Maliks was inadequate; mnost of the old Maliks and
the large class whom Johnston called Mutabars had held aloof from
the settlement. Without their cooperation it was impossible to
conduct relations with the tribe. In Johnston's view, the arrange-
ment was waworkable. He therefore proposed a compromise scheme
between the Maliki system and Merk's tribal responsibility arrange-
ment; ‘the old Maliks  were to receive better recognition than
hitherto while the distribution of allowances was not to be on a
sectional basis as was proposed under Merk's arvangement. John-
ston recommended that an additional sum of Rs. 9,000 be sanctioned,
thus raising the total allowances to Rs. 70,000 per anaum. Of
this Re. 54,000 as arranged by Merk were to be Eggggg} for the tribe as
&%1;&2‘2

Deane supported Johnston. He pointed out the risks involved
in conducting relations with "the great Jjirga of the Mahsuds" which
vas "an armed rabble of several thousand strong". It was, besides,
expengive to entertain such a large gathering,B Curzon had becone

exasperated with the frontier officers' "constant oscillations" of

122&2& = the whole body of the tribe; Tumani = payment of allow-
ances to the whole tribe.

ZJohnsfon to Deane, July 1902, P.S,L.I., vol. 149, Reg. No. 1448-A.
jDeane to Govt, of India, 7 August 1902, ibid. Deane to Govt.
of India, 9 November 1902, I,#.P.P,, vol. 6648, February 1503,
Proc. Wos. 58-04.
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nolicy and the lack of a fixed plan. He now reluctantly accented
"Tohnston's conglomerate scheme on the express recponsibility of
those who nropnosed it", IHe urged the officerc to mnake earnest

-

efforts Yo secure continuity in the Goverament's dealin~s with

o

VJaziristen and to bring the eran of divided counsels and fluctuatins
actions to an end.

In Pebruary 1905, Jolnson nreceeded to put the scheme into
effect. le held a fully representative jirga of " 3,500 nmen at
Jandolea; Mulla Powindalr and cvery other man of inmpoiftance attended
the jirge. The jirca unanimously asveed fo do away with all the

tribal renresentatives selected in the nreceding year as they were

nen of no account. ¥For these were substituted all the old Laliks
and other leading men wio at the last distribution of allowances
had stood aloof in the hope of obtaining senarate recosnition,

It was provosed that the old Malilks and Mulabars should enter the

Tuman as Vakils (representatives), that Rs. 16,000 assigned for

Maliks should not be divided in any arbitrary way but should follow
the tribal distribution and be given solely to the Haliks. The
Mulla, who had been receiving a secrel allowance from the Govern-
ment and vho was attending the jirga for the first time, stood up

to defend the new arrangement as a "fair, just and generous" scheme

v

1N@$e by Curzon, 9 December 1902, C.C., vol. 338,




which would usher in a new era in Mahsud relations with the Brit-
ish Government. For ten years past he had constantly opposed the
Government, t now he promised to cooperate with them for the
good of the tribe.l

Deane was happy that in place of the unwieldy, expensive
and irresponsible Tumen the new scheme had set up a comprehensive
system of representation. He hoped that the arrangement of sub-
sidising the Mahsuds would secure both their goodwill and the co-
operation of their leaders and thus ensure peace.2 The hope was
strengthened when the Mahsuds willingly enlisted in the militias.
Three companies, each aboul one hundred strong, were recruited
in the South Wazirvistan Militia, each company being formed from a
different clan of the tribe. One sﬁch company was recrulted in
the North Waziristan Militia. Gradually the militias took over
all the posts in Yagiristan vhich were formerly held by regulars,
with the exception of Jaﬂdola.a

These were evidently encouraging signs, but there were others
which clearly suggested that the coaduct of the tribe was, indeed,

unpredictable. Thus, within about eighteen months of JOohnston's

1Johnston to Deane, 14 March 190%, I.F,P.P., vol. 6648, Proc. los.
68-TL. '

2Deane to Govt. of India, 25 March 1903, ibid.

3Howell, op.cite, .20,

V8
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arrangement a sepoy of the South Waziristan Militia murdered

Captain Bowring, Political Agent, Wana. In February 1905

Captain Harman, Commandant of the South Waziristan Militia,

wag murdered by another Mashsud sepoy. At first fanaticism was

suspected to be the cause of these incidents. Then they were

attributed to a "plot among certain Mahsuds in the militia".

Inconsequence, four hundred Mahsuds in the Militia were disbanded

and, sent back to their homes, while twenty, who were suspected

of being the perpetrators of the crimes, weresent to Dera Ismail

Xhan for trial. In November 1905, a third British Officer,

Captain Donaldson, Brigade Major at Bannu, fell victim to an

ex-militia man., It now came to the surface that Mulla Powindah

had actually instigated these murders.l
This was the position on the frontier when Curzon in November

1905 handed over charge to Minto, Before his departure from India,

in a speech at the Simla United Services Club, Curzon clalmed that

the frontier was quiet and that during seven years of his Vice-

royalty no frontier expedition had been undertaken, and that the

Government had spent only £248,000 on what he called the "semi-

pacific operation of the Mahsud blockade! as compared to £4l/2

million in the five years preceding his rule.2

Minto, the incoming Viceroy, refused to accept Curzon's

1Deane to Govt. of India, 14 March, 1905, P.S.L.I., vol. 176, Reg.

No. 690; Crump to Deane, 11 June 1906, ibid., vol. 190, Reg.No.1382.

gRaleigh, op.cit., p.567.




clains. e felt, indeed, that hehad

inherited a difficult position on the frontier.

Our relations with the Amir, with the tribes,

the »osition of the militia levies, and the vieu
our officers take cenerally of frontier questions
all seem to me to have been influenced by a spirit
which I do not profess quite to understand, but
which T thin!l: has not indicated a sense of the nec-
esgity of avoiding friction on the frontier asg much
as possible.l

e could point to the evidence of unrest in the series of murders
of British cofficers by Mahsud militiamen., It became increasingly
obvious that the Border Military Police were not stroag enough to

safeguard the border from tribal raids, which srew in intensity

and frequency. lMorcover IMinto soon discovered that the official

80

reports submitted during Cuwgon's time had been deliberately slanted

to throw a favourable light on the frontier situation. Several

daring raids had been suopressed by the local authorities but not

brought to the notice of the Foreign Department, "for the sake of

giving a good impression of Curzon's frontier policy". Minto de-

clared himself unable to understand the line adopted by the vre-

vious administration, and in a strong letter he warned Deane that
the suppression of information respecting raids and

the tendency %o scribe as many evil acts as possible
%o Afghan influence canmnot be tolerated.?

1I'-Zinto to Morley, 8 March 1906, Minto Papers, vol. M 1005.

ZMinto to Norley, B March 1906, ibid.




The immediate problem Minto had to desl with was the punish-
ment of the Mahsud murderers. Deane's proposal was that the five
relatives of Captain Donaldson's assassin should be surrendered by
the tribe to the Government, that all lands in the British terri-
tory belonging to the Sultani sectionpf the Alizai clan of the
Hahsuds be confiscated, that the Mahsud allowances be stopped for
two years and, that a fine of 25,000 rupees be imposed on the tribe
Failing compliance within a month, Deane recommended that an ex-
pedition be sent and the Mahsud country occupied.1

In December, 905 and January 1906 Minto discussed the issue
in his Council. There were two questions: first, the need for
immediate action to secure the safety of British officers serving
with the militia levies on the frontier; second, how best to pun-
ish the tribe. Asg for the Tfirst, two alternatives were suggested:
either the militia posts in Vaziristan should be strengthened by
the addition of separate contingents of troops from India, or the
militia levies should be reorganised by the incorporation of a pro-
portion of Sikhs and Dogras who would act as a counter to the Mah-
suds. The former was a difficult course to adopt, for to send small
bodies of troops to reinforce the militia posts was risky in the
existing state of feelings in Vazirvistan, while the reorganisation

e s . . 2
of the militia levies would take some time.

1Memorandum of Information for December 1905, regarding affairs on
and beyond the N,¥W.F., of India, p.13, P,8.L.T., vol. 184, Reg.lo.

2Hinto to Morley, 28 December 1905, 1 February 1906, Minto Papers,
vol. M 1005,
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288.
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As for punishing the Mahsuds by an expedition, neither
Minto nor Kitchener was favourably disvosed. The members of
the Council, though generally desivous of adopting the course,
coulé not ignore the vrisk of the expedition escalating into a
frontier War.l Minto, therefore, accepted Deane's proposal to
impose a fine of Rs. 25,000 to be recovered from the *tribal
allowances, and to withhold all allowances for one year, unless
the tribe cleared itself of suspicion or handed over to the
Government the five men suspected of the murder of British officere.2
The plan seemed to have worked when lMulla Powindah surrendered three
of the men demanded. The fourth was also scon brought in. But the
fifth, a relative of the lulla, fled to Birmal, within the Afghen
boundary. In spite of the suspec%ed complicity of the Mulla in
the recent crimes, the Government hesitated to take action against
him, L. Crumn, the Political Agent of Wana, for instance, thought
that the HMulla was imolicated in the crimes but commented that to
"punish hin means war and war means annexation', Crump, therefore,
nroposed that the Government purchase the mylla's loyvalty by »Hub-

licly grantin~ him a »lot of land in British teryitory

vy this would

bind him "by tics of personal intercot fo Government" aad "

;

ineidcent-

1Minto to Morley, 10 January, 19006, ibid.

RMinﬁo to lorley, 1 FPebruary 1909, lorley to Minto, 20 March 19C0,

ibid..




1 "

ally ... reduce big paremount influence", in the tribe. Sin-

e}

ulvaneonsly, Crump asked the Government to rearrange the lalilci
allowvances of Re. 16,00C, for he thought that Johastoh'! Vakils
were merely ordinary householders of the tribe who did not exer~
cise any real influence but had undeservedly golt a share ian the
Tumeni and in the Maliki allowances. Crump wanted To introduce

the old Maliks idnto the settlement to give the tribe alternative
leaders and "to strengthen the oligarchy of really efficient
HMaliks" to counterbalance the influence of the Mullah.l Deane was
not in favour of Crump's “revolutionary" proposal regarding the
I‘qulla,2 but Minto believed that it was worth buying the Mulla of‘f.3
Unlike Curzon's secret allowance to the Mulla, the grant of land

to him was therefore publicly announced, the Goveranment's intention

being to "ecut away from him all his pretensions to religious piety"

and "to set the Tuman strongly against him®. Johnston's "Conglo-
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merate" scheme was also changed; the number of recipients of Malilki

4

allowances was reduced from 1,500 to 300,

Yo to Desne, 11 June, 1906, P.S.L.I., vol.190, Reg. No. 1382,
2Deane to Govt, of India, 11 July 1906, ibid.

Minto to Morley, 29 August 1906, Minto Papers, vol. M 1006,
4Govt. of India to Deane, 22 August 1906, P.3.L.T., vol. 191,

Reg. Wo. 1530, Memorandum of Information for the month of January

1907 regarding... N, ¥.P. of India, p.l2, P.S5.L.J., vol. 198, Reg.
I\TOO 583; I‘]-O.W'ell, QD.GiJC. 9 pc 230




Tor a while the officials claimed that the Government's
object of curbing the Mulla's influence had been realised. Sev-
eral attempls were reported to have been made on the Mulla's life,
possibly by those 1,20C men who attributed the loss of their Malili
allowance to him, This led the officials to bhelieve that the IMulla's
prestigewas at a low ebb which was indeed -~ wishful thinking, for
the Mylla continued his struggle with the discontented Malilks,

1 s -~ - o ! n 1
a struggle fraught with menace to the peace of the boxder',

There was a recrudescence of raids by the Mahsuds with an
organised system of assassinations., Byritish subjects inside the
administered area ran great risks while the British officers in
Vaziristan were practically prisoners in the militia forts.

The Government were convinced that Mulla Powindah was the

. . < 2 . . .
brain behind the Mahsud outrages. The situation which seemed to
be getting oat of hand was described by Minto thus:

Ve sent what practically amounted to an ultimatum

to the Mahsuds in July, wmrning them that if they

did not behave themselves the consequences would be

more serious. Their reply to this has been a raid by

a force of an unusual strength, composed of all sections

of the tribe into British territory and an insolent

letter to Crump ... much of it in a tone of contempt

and defiance, whilst a man has been arrested near the

tennis greund at Wana, who has confessed that he wag
employed by the Mulla Powinda to assassinate Crump.-~
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zﬂilto to Morley, 29 August 1907, Minto Papers, vol. M 1007.

Bﬁinto to Morley, 16 October 1907, ibid.




The Government had therefore no choice but to withdraw the

grant of land from the Mullas as well as the special secret
allowance.l But this was not enough.

Deane, who was "rather pessimistic" about the frontier

affairs, once again urpged upon Minto the launching of an expedition

against the Mahsuds, Ninto was in a predicament: he held that
For the vindication of the Govermment's aunthority and wrestige an
expedition was Justified but he was handicapped by the fact that
it might have unfavourable repercussions on Britvish relations with
Afzhanistan as well as with Russia. "It is all-inportant® liinto
explained to liorley, "that nothinz chould arise to jeomardise the
Treaty with Russia,2 and violent anti-Britich feelins on the front-
ier might for the moment react on afzghan politics, and handicap
the Amir in any wish he may have to meet us half way.”s Besides,
any expedition was an expensive undervaiiing. Minto was supported
in hie views by Ildtchener who absolutely asrecd that %o cater the
laheud country simply to punish the tribe and then to withdraw
would be "full of the rost unfortunate results". Hinto had an in-

nse diglilze for vhat was kmoun as the “"steanm roller policyh, thal

-
o

Howell, on.cit., ».23.

2ra

et

The Anclo-Russian Convention concluded in avgust 1907.

Skinto to Horley, 10 October 1907, K.P., vol. 13.
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ooing into a country simply to burn aand destroy

all we can lay our hands on and then going away

again, leaving a starviag population with their

hatred for us increased a hundred fold.

The withdrawal of the British troops after inflicting punishment
on the HMahsuds, Minto explained,

would be credited to no feelings of generosilty on

our side, but simply to fear of the tribes...

whilst our own soldiers would say, with truth, that

their comrades who were killed had sacrificed their

lives for nothing.

However, should an expedition be forced on the CGovermment
by the continued misbehaviour of the tribe, then Minto preferred
to occupy the Mahsud country by establishing miiitary posts and
improving the means of communication rather than to devastate it
and then withdraw. It was not necessary in his view to force upon
it a "British administration, collection of revenues" etc., It
would be sufficient to hold the area

by the creation of one or two roads, or rather by

the improvement of existing roads by means of tribal

labour, for which we should not pay, and the establish~

ment of a few armed posts, leaving the tribe as here-

tofore to carry on its own tribal administration.

It was a safe policy to adopt, Minto asserted, as well as one likely
to bring "happiness and prosperity to the districts we have paci-
fied", Moreover the "pacification of Waziristen" by this means

would, Minto hoped, "in the long run, be far less expensive than

a succession of expeditions",

1Minto to Morley, 16 October 1907, M.P., vol. 13. Also see Hary,

Countess of Hinto, India, Minto and Morley,l905-1910, pp. 185-6;
J. Buchan, Iord Minto, A Memoir, pp. 268~9.
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The Home Government'se reaction was cautious. Morley was not
only against any expedition but ke was opposed to any form of
occupation of the tribal territory. On 5 December 1907 he wrote
to Minto:

Things may be btiresome; they always are tiresome in
that delectable region, but who thinks they would

have been less so, 1f we had listened to frontier
counsels, Whatever the Amir may say about the Russian:
Convention, for us to have gone into the field against
his friends on the border while he is deciding his
tactics, would beyond all doubt have prejudiced our
chances of his assent Zﬁo the Conventiogy. Much there-
fore do I applaud your caubious refusal to go in for
punitive expeditions... as at present advised, or as
1ikely to bhe advised, H.M.'s Government will certainly
refuse to set up permanent posts, or anything else that
is of the nature of amnexabion.t

Meanwhile, the lMahsud attempts to kill British officers wenlt o
unabated. On 135 March 1908 matters came to a head. The HMahsud
assassing illed the Political Agent's bearer and the Political

Tahsildar's Thnshi. Thereupon Crump effected an inmediate baramata

-~

(seizure of person and property) of all the Mahsuds in the protected

and administered areas and secured the capture of four hundred lah-
2 . TS o, I S 1 4 -

suds. Deane and Minto fully approved of this step but Korley

felt "rather quaking". He wrote fto Minto that the "doings of Crump

u

snd Deane® struck him “as savouring unvlezsantly of the forward

frontier school". lorley feared that Cromp's action without orders

1"" 3 s — b £~ o E

Forley to Minto, 5 Decenmber 1907, L,P,, vol. 2.

2. w . . , I ]
Trans-Arontier Jouraal for darch 1908, pp. 7-8, P.8.L.T1., vol., 215,
Reg. No. 848.
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was just the kind of thing to commit his Govermment to an
expedition.1

While the Viceroy and the Secretary of State were busy
in debating the wisdom of Crump's action, Deane was directed
to get in touch with the Mahsud jirga. In April 1908, Deane
interviewed the jirga at Tank, announced the definite forfeit-
ure of the previous year's allowances and reiterabed the warning
of July 1907 regarding tribal xresponsibility for the prevention
of oubtrapes on British territory and atltempts at the murder of
British officers and British subjects. Unless the twribe stopped
these practices, its allowances would be withheld. The Maliks
as before pleaded their inability to control the outlaws and Mulla
Powindah, whereupon Deane recommended to the Government the launch-
ing of an expedition as the only solution of the long festering
problem.2

Minto by now was very anxious; he realised the extreme
strain wnder which the British officers were living in the troubled
region "with their lives in their hands from day to day with a

3

constant threat of assassination"™.” An expedition, as repeatedly

"Worley to Minto, 15 April 1908, Minto Papers, vol. M L008.

2TransAFrontier Journal for March, April, June 1908, P.3.L.T,,
vol., 215, Reg. No. 848; wol. 2L6, Reg. No. 1095; vol. 218,
Reg. No. 1434.

JMinto to Morley, 15 April 1908, Minto Papers, vol. M 1008.
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urged by Deane, ssemed to the Viceroy the only course left.
However, since Minto found it *“uncommonly hard" to persuade
Morley to sanction the course, he lad to drop the idea.1
Matbtters kept on drifting and no satisfactory solution
of the intricate Mahsud problem was forthcoming. In Juane 1908,
Roos-Keppel replaced Deane whose health under the heavy strain
gave way.g Deane went home, a physical wreck, and died soon
after.3 One of the first steps taken by Roos-Keppel was to
place Waziristan under D, S. Donald, the Deputy Commissioner
of Hagara, a senior and experienced officer, to coordinate and
control all political work in the region.4
During this time an unofficial correspondence took place
between Crump and Roos-Keppel. Crump recommended the occupation
and direct administration of Waziristan. He proposed the con-
struction of a road from Thal in Kurram via Idak in Tochi through
the heart of the Mahsud country to Wana in the Gomal. There would

be a garrison of some 2,500 regular troops at Razmak, and the

road would be held by a series of militia posts. The entire tribal

"into to Morley, 23 June 1908, Morley to Minto, 16 July 1908, ibid.

“Minto to Morley, 4 June 1908, M.P., vol. 16.
jOla;E‘.Caroe, op.cit., p.422.

4Roos4Keppel to Govt. of India, 18 June 1909, Govi. of India to
Secy. of State, 3 November 1910, P.S.L.I., vol. 244, Reg.No. 1670.




territory would be administered on the system in force in
the protected areas of the Wana and Tochi agencies. A light
revenue in the form of a house tax would be levied. Crump
also laid stress on adopting such measures hy the Government
as would promote the economic development of the Mahsud country.
The mineral wealth and forests of Waziristan, if developed, would
not only bring prosperity Lo the country but transform the people!s
habits as well. Urging a change of outlook on the part of the
Government, crump wrote:

At present the Mahsud is treated as an outcaste,

with suspicion and hatred. He is a byword for

treachery. ... There is splendid material of humanity

in the people, and it is diime that Government ceased

to treat the Mahsud as a brute, and began to treat

him as a man. Let Government enter and administer

the country, it will not only be blessed by its own

subjects, but afford a chance of civilisation to one

of the finest of the Pathan tribes.l

Crump's scheme was a departure from the Government's policy
of non-—interference in the internal administration of the tribal
people. Roos-Keppel, considering it as "a war policy", did not
attach much importance %o it,z while Minto, regarding it as the
Wirresponsible utterance of a subordinate official' asked Morley

3

to ignore ift.

1Crump's Note m the Settlement of Waziristan, 22 December 1908,
P.S,L.%., wol. 227, Reg. No. 633, '

®Roos—Keppel to Govb. of India, 11 Jenuary 1909, ibid.

3Govt. of India to Secy. of State, 8 April 1909, ibid.
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The year 1909 began with the Mahsud problem becoming a
trifle easier. In January sixty rifles were surrendered to
the Government as a token of the Mahsud submission and as an
assurance of the tribe's future good behaviour.1 The Government
also made certain gestures. In May sectional instead of tribal
responsibility was once again enforced. Several sections of the
tribe paid fines to the Government, and to allay the dissatisfaction
regarding the existing system of distribution of Maliki allowances,
the Government made a rearrangement of the system. Lists of
sectional Maliks were drawn up by each section and allowances were
paid out by the Government in accordance with thelists, Simultan-
eously the recruitment of Mahsuds in the army was also unc’l.er‘caken.2
Mulla Powindah's influence, too, seemed to be on the wane, He failed
to convene a jirga at Kaniguram in November 1909 and to prevent the
Mahsuds altending a jirga called by the Government at Tank in January
1910.°

In late 1910 Minto was succeeded by Lord Hardinge, who, in

the words of Morley, was "an enemy of the Forward Policy".4 Under

1Trans—Frontier Journal, January, 1909, ».12, P.S.5L.I., vol. 225,
Reg. No. 320,

2Memorandum of Information for September 1910 regarding ... N.W.F.

of India, p.18, P.S.L.T., vol. 244, Reg., No. 1557; ibid., November 1910,
p.14, P.8.L.I., vol. 245, Reg. Nos., 1847-8. N.,W.F. Province Diary for
the week ending 31 December 1910, p.l6, P.S.L.I., vol. 246, Reg.No.218.

i

5Merlc to Govt. of India, 28 Mavrch 1910, P.S.L.L., vol. 240, Reg.No.852.

4Morley to Minto, 15 June 1910y M.P., vol. 5.
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Minto, whatever the Viceroy's personal beliefs and convictions
might have been, the Mahsud situation had been handled by mekeshift
arrangements with the predominant object of avoiding a punitive
expedition., As a result, the situabtionwas by no means easy, and
the new Viceroy had plenty of anxiety and worry in store for him.

The year 1911 was very hard for the Mahsuds, the couwntry suffered
from a bad drought and famine. The Government feared that the failure
of crops would intensify the Mahsuds' propeunsity for raiding. They,
therefore, thought it "wery desirable from the political point of
view" to give some sort of employment to the Mahsuds to ease their
economic distress and thereby to minimise the risk of Mahsud abtacks
on British territory. The railway depariment had at that time a
scheme for the extension of the Kalabagh-Bannu line from Lakki ‘o
Tank, Hardinge saw that the section from Lakki to Pezu - a distance
of about twenty five miles - could offer employment to a large number
of Mahsuds for a few months.1 Accordingly, in February 1912, nearly
2,000 Mahsuds were employed and many more were engaged on the Khuzma
road in the Gomal and the Mughal Kot road in the Zhob2 valley. The
development of communications on the Waziristan border by the Govern—
ment was distastefyl . to Mulla Powindah who unsuccessfully tried to

=

damage the Khuzma road.”

Wiceroy to Secy. of State, 24 October 1911, P.S.L.I., Vol. 252, Reg.No.1744.

2Roos~Keppell to Hardiange, 2 Pebruary 1912, H,P., vol, 8%: III, Roos-
Keppell to Hardinge, 6 March 1913, ibid., vol. 85: V.

3R005~Képpél to Govt, of India, Tels. 1, 4, 6 March 1912, P.S.F.,
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In November 1913 the Mulla died. For nearly two decades he
had dominated the politics of South Waziristan., He saw in the
advance of the British government into Waziristan, with its out-
ward manifestations of the Militia, military posts and roads, a
menace to the cherished independence of his country. To safe-
guard this independence he set himself to wreck the British plans,
and his methods ~ raids on the British terribtory, assassination
of British officers and intrigues with the anti-British party
at Kabul - had proved a constant source of enxiety for the British
government. The latter's policy towards the Mulla lacked consist-
ency. At first he was ignored; then he was favoured with a
liberal gratuity and friendly relations with British officers;
later he was deprived of both, This "mixbture of cajolery and snubs®
had turned the Mulla into a bitter opponent of the British in his
later years. Curzon, Minto and Kitchener, to whom the Mulla had
given many anxious moments, despised him as a "first class scoundrel™®,
"a great rascal" and "a pestilent priest", but to a later competent
British observer, Evelyn Howell, the Mulla was a remarkable mau.

In Howell's view, the Mulla
cannot be judged by any standard current among English-

men,.. By those who had made allowances for the en—
vironment in which he lived , he cannot be denied some

vol. 13, 1912, File No. 1088, Govt. of India %o Roos-Keppel,
Tel. 15 March 1912, ibid., Tile no. 1291.
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tribute of admiration ss a determined and astute,

though not altogether single-minded, patriot and

champion of his tribe's independence.... his force-

ful character, striking appearance and persuasive

eloquence made a deep impression on those with whom

he came into personal contact. A man,who without

any inherited advantages and without education,

could make so lawrge an instalment of frontier

history in effect, but a series of chapters in his

own biography, can have been no little man, and

given more malleable material to work upon than

Mahsuds have ever afforded and a more fortunate

setting in time and space, he might well have ranked

with many who are accounted great men, -

The Mulla's second surviving son, Fazl-Din, a stripling of fourteen
or fifteen years of age, was destined to carry on his father's
policy as a "centre of opposit ion" to any friendly relations of

the Mahsuds with the Government.

This was soon apparent for in January 1914, Captain Butler,
Second~in~-Command, South Waziristan Militia, was killed by a sepoy.
Two months later Major Dodd, Political Agent, Wana, Captain Brown,
Second-in~-Command, South Waziristan Militia and Lieutenant Hickie
of the Royal Artillery, along with three sepoys, lost their lives
at the hands of a Bahlolzai Mahsud, Sarfraz by name, vho was the
personal orderly of Major Dodd. An enquiry into the incident re-
vealed that the murders had been previously planned and were the

result not of any private grievance but of a "tribal movement".

Mulla Abdul Hakim, an intimate friend and for years the "confidential

1Howell, on.cit., p.30.

et B A% St Lo
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munshi?® of the late Mulla Powindah, was strongly suspected of

complicity in the crime,

1

Donald, who was officlating as the Chief Commissioner,

interviewed the Mahsud Jirgae in May 1914, enforced tribal re-

sponsibility and suspended the tribal allowances. The Mahsuds vere

asked to surrender three relatives of Sanrzfraz and three other men,

the accomplices in the murder of Briiish officers. The Mahsuds re-

fused compliance.2 Shortly thereafter the Great War started, ac-

centuating the hostile abttitude of the Mahsuds towards the British

L

g;overnme.n‘c.'7

The Afridis

The Gomal and Khyber passes have a local strategic and commer-

cialhmportance, but there is no doubt that of all the routes from
cialfimpor ‘
venural Asia and Afghenistan, none rival the XKhyber. The Khyber has

been rightly described as "the most historic ... of all the passes

of the World".4 It begins near Jamrud, ten and a half miles west

of Peshawar, and runs through the Khyber hills for about thirty-

three miles. 1in a north~westerly direction till it reaches Lol Dakka

1

Donald to Govt. of India, 6 June 1914, P.3.F., vol. 46, 1914, File
No. 2627; Note by F. A. Hirtzel, undated, ibid., File No. 1469.

2

Summary of the Administration of Lord Herdinge, 1910-16, p.100, H.P.,

vol. 131, Donald to Hardinge, 19 July 1914, enclosed in Hardinge to
Crewe, 30 July 1914, ibid., vol. 120; IV.

Jqummary of the Administration of Iord Hardinge, p.103 H.P., vol. 13L.

43. W. Spain, op.cit., p.25.




in Afghan territory. The Khyber has always been the high-road from
Central Asia to India; hence, its strategic and commercial im-
portance.

The guardians of the Khyber pass are the Afridis,1 who like
the Waziris, are "warlike and predatory" tribesmen.z The Khyher
Afridis ave divided into six distinct clans: The Kambar Khel,
Kamarai Xhel, Kuki Khel, Malikdin Khel,; Sipah Khel and Zakka Khel.
Their common homeland is the Tirah to the south of the Khyber pass;
each clan has its own habitat., Of ‘these clans, the Zakka Khel are
the most important, most powerful and the most turbulent, being re—
garded as the "archetype" of Afridis., They were less amenable to
British control than other clans partly because their settlements
were a long way from the settled border, and also because their
trade with the British territory was small.3

The British government first came in contact with the Afridis
during the first Afghan war. Then when Peshawar as a part of the

State of Lahore became a British possession in 1849:5Afridis ook

service in the British Indian army and served well during the Nutiny.

Zf%avies, op.cit., p.135.
egsides the Khyber Afridis, there are two other Afridi clans:

the Adam Khel, who live in ‘the Kohat pass between Peshawar and
Kohat, and the Aka Khel, who live in the hills south of Jamrud.

SFrqgjier and Qverseas Expeditions from India, vol. II, pp. 13-4, 19.
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In the beginning, British relations with the Afridis, as with
the Mahsuds, were maintained throygh influential men of the
Peshawar border, called the Arbabs. These intermediaries,
however, proved unreliable, being prone to intrigues against

the British. To enhance their own importance, they fomented
unrest among the Afridis and prevented friendly relations de-
veloping between the tribe and the British Government. During
the second Afghan war, the Afridis, particularly the Zakkar Khel,
harassed the British troops passing through the Khyber. In 1878,
the Government were forced to send a punitive expedition against
the tribe.

In 1879, by the Treaty of Gandamak concluded with the Amir
of Afghanistan, the British Government secured the control of the
Khyber pass. The Khyber folitical Agency, the first of its kind
on the frontier, was then created by the Govermment. It included
the Mullagori country north of the XKhyber, the Tirah to the south
and ‘the country on both sides of the Khyber pass. An agreement was
also made on 17 February 1881 between the Brifish government and the
Afridis, by which the latter, together with the Loargai Shinwvaris
of Landi Kotal accepted entire and exclusive responsibility for the

safety of the Khyber, and, on condition of British recognition of

1Imperial Gazetbeer of India, North West Frontier Province, 1908,
pp. 231-2, R. Warburton, FEighteen years in the Khyber (1879-1898),
pp. 35-6, 328-9.
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their independence, undertook to have no velations with any

foreign power. In pursuance of this agreement allowances were
fixed for the Afridis, including the Shinwaris of loargai, amount~
ing to Rs. 87,540 per annum, which was liable to forfeiture if
the Afridis committed dacoity, highway robbery or murder in
British territory. The management of the Khyber pass was en-
trusted to the tribesmen themselves. Some local levies called
Jezailchis numbering about four hundred, were also raised for es-
corting caravans through the Khyber twice a week. They were paid
by the Government, but their appointment and dismissal lay with
the chiefs of the clans concerned, who were solely responsible for
the management of the levies. The Political Agent of the Khyber
dealt with matters relating to the Afridis. The British goverament
exerciged the right of levying tolls on traffic carried through
the Khyber pass.1

During the +tribal disturbances of 1897~8 the Afridis were
severely dealt with by the Tirah Expeditionary force uander General
William Lookharé% In 1898 a fresh settlement was made with the
Afridis vequiring them to have no intercourse with any power ex-
cept the British and to raise no objections to the construction of
railways or roads by the Government through the Khyber pass. On

these conditions their allovances were restored with a small increase

1Ai’t0hi8011, 0 oCito, PP. 27""8, 97""9'

2 See Biographical Notes, pp. 469-70




of two hundred and fifty rupees per mensem for the Kambar Khel.l
Under Curzon's scheme of frontier defence the Jezailchis were
renamed the Khyber Rifles and augmented to two battalions of
six hundred men. each, They were placed under British officers
and supported by a mobile column at Peshawar. The government
of India took responsibility for the safety of the Khyber road
and ‘the Xhyber Rifles.2
Before the Agreement of 1881 had brought the Afridis under
British control, the Amir of Afghanistan had been accustomed to
exercise "some measure of control" over them. He had, for ex—
ample, paid allowances to the tribe to keep the Khyber pass open
for trade. Under the 1881l Agreement, the Amir was obliged to re-
frain from interfering with the Aﬁridis.3 However, Afghan influence
over the tribe did not suddenly cease, and neither did heyintrigues
with them. These intrigues and continual raids by the tribe on
frontier districts constituted the main problem of the British gov-

ernment in the period under review,

In 1902-03 Afghan intrigues nobt only with the Afridis but

99

the QOrakzais and Mohmands also took what was considered by the Govern-—

1Ibid., pp. 99-100. Imperial Gazetteer of India, N.W.I'.P., 1908, p.232.

2See Chapter I, p.3o.
3

Imperial Gagzetteer of India, N.W.F.P., 1908, pp. 232-2.
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ment to be an "extremely undesirable" turn. The tribesmen visited
Kabul in large numbers in response to ianvitatinns from persons
who represented themselves as the Amir's agents. Khwas Khan,
an ex-Malik of Zakka Khel, who had fled to Kabul after the 1897
disturbances, was the Amir's "principal agent" in dealing with
the tribes. In Kabul the tribesmen were liberally treated; sub-
gtantial sums of money were distributed among them; pensions and
allowances were fixed for some of the headmen; facilities were
provided for extensive purchase of arms and ammunition; and they
were even enlisted in the Afghan army. It was also reported that
the Amir had conferred the title of Khan Bahadur on five Afridi
leaders including Chaman, a notorious Zakka Khel raider and rifle
thief, thus making a mockery of Curzon's bestowal of that title
on the pro-British Malik, Yar Mvhammad Khan of the Malikdin Khel.
The Amir declared that the man honoured by Curzon was "disloyal
to his tribe and his King", and that his own nominees were "faith-
ful to their religiOn".l

Afghan intrigues resulted in what looked to the British To
be the splitting up of the Afridis into two factions, the Kabul
party and the Sarkar (Government) party. The former was numerically
weak but its members, oﬁ¥ of gratitude for past and hope of future

favours at the hands of the Amir, were his active and enthusiastic

1Govt. of India to Secy. of State, 22 September 1904, P.5.8.F.,
vol. 3%%,1904, Wile No. 1776, Reg. No, 1776; Ampthill to Brodricl,
24 August 1904, Ampthill Papers, vel., 37.




supporters. They openly boasted that their object was to embroil
the Afridis with the government of Tndia and to bring the Tribe
closer to the Amir. The Sarkar party, on the other hand, was
neaded by the Maliks and elders who were well-disposed to the
Government but powerless against the "malcontent minority”.l

The Government took a serious view of the Amir's activities
but were not very sure of their motivation. The British Govern~
ment's agent in Kabul reported in September 1904 that the Anmir
had doubts about the British friendship and so had deemed it
expedient to increase his influence with the Afridis. It was
also possible that by intriguing with the tribes on the undemar—
cated section of the Indo-Afghan boundary, Habibullah was seek-
ing to “force us at demarcation to accept his views", or perhaps
Wrying to coerce ugs on the subject of our general arrangements
with him™. 2

In September 1904, in a despatch to the Secretary of State,
they elaborated their views on the Afghan intrigues and the meas-
ures they deemed necessary to deal with the situation. The
Government of India proposed that they should ask the Amir to
abide by his treaty engagement and to press the Afridis to ob-

serve their sgreements. If the Amir desisted from intrigues, it

1Khyber Political Diary week ending 24 September 1904, P.S.L.I1.,

vol. 170, Reg. No., 1927A.

2Govt. of India to Secy. of State, 22 September 1904, P.S5.5.F.,
vol. 33, 1904, File No., 1776, Reg. Wo. 1776.
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would not be difficult for the Government to deal with the
Afridis, especially if the demarcation of the Indo~Afghan boundary
was carried out.l The Government were ready to establish a post
at Sassobi on the boxder to close this "back-door" to Afghanistan
used by the Sarhang of Dakka2 for his communication with the Af-
ridis. In the event of the Orakzais and Afridis refusing to obey
Government orders and of their continuing to ignore the 1898 settle-
ment, the Govermment would stop their allowances and accept the
request of the Shia Orakzais to take over their coun'try.3
This request had been made in the beginning of 1904 by cert-
ain clans of the Shia Orakzais across the Kohat border who were
seeking protection against rival Sunni clans who oppressed them.
Deane strongly urged the Government to amnex the country of the Shia
Oralkkzais because of its many advantages. The Government wuld se-
cure a firmer political control over the adjacent Afridis, especially
the Zakka Khel and Aka Khel sections, by occupying a strategic base

in the rear of the Afridi country. Deane recommended that after

1
See pp.17-8.

2Dakka was a village in the Jalalabad district of Afghanistan and was
twelve and a half miles from Landi Kotal on the road to Kabul., A
force of two hundred Khassadars armed with Lee-Metford rifles was
stationed here, under a Sarhane or Sartip.

3Govt. of India to Secy. of State, 22 September 1904, P.S5.5.7.,
vol. 33, 1904, File No. 1776, Reg. No. 1776.
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taking the Shia Orakzais under their protection, the Government
should administer the tract on the lines of the Kurram agency.
A native Assistant working under the Deputy Commissioner of
Kohat should be appointed, a cess of four rupees per house should
be collected and a corps of two hundred local levies should be
raised for the protection of the border and affiliated to the
Samana Rifles.l

Curzon, so it seemed to Ampthill, the Acting Viceroy, was
g 1ittle dubious" about the matter. Xitchener and Edmund Elles,
the Military Member of the Council, were willing to accept Deane's
recommendations. But in Ampthill's view this course involved a
distinct departure from the existing frontier policy as laid down
by the Home government in 1898, prohibiting the undertaking of any
new responsibility unless absolutely required by actual strategical
necessities, and any unnecessary interference with the tribes.2
At the end 0f1904 the issue was discussed in the Coumncil. Kitchener
stuck to his views, maintaining that the Xabul-Kandahar line was
the strategical boundary for the defence of India against an enemy
advance through Afghanistan. That being so, it was absolutely

egssential that the Government should assert themselves and control

1Deane to Govi. of India, 14 May 1904, P,.8.0L.I., vol. 168, Reg.No.l558.

2 \mpthill to Brodrick, 13 July 1904, Ampthill Papers, vol. 37.
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the tribes up to the Durand line, for these tribes were both
able and ready to endanger the approaches to the Kabu1~Kan£%ar
position, Kitchener strongly urged that such control required
the gradual incorporation and absorption of the frontier tribes.
To leave them in a "state of semi-independence as a sovt of buffer
state" would, in his view, be "fatal to any scheme for the defence
of India”.l Rdmond Elles, the Military Mewber, supported Kitchener,
but other members of the Council opposed the idea, being unwilling
to reverse the existing frontier policy, to incur the expense in-
volved in the project and to run the risk of stirring up hosti-
lities with the Afridis.z

The news of the Orakgzai approach to the Government of India
by July 1904 had already reached the Afridis, and according to one
informer, "there is not a tree in Maidan under which you will not
find three or four men discussing the Shia affair". The Amir, too,
was aware of the matter.3 Ampthill, hesitating to take adefinite
decision, sent a "non-committal" despatch to the Secretary of State,

stating that

1Ampthill to Brodrick, 27 July 1904, ibid. See also A Note on the
Military Policy of India by Kitchener, 19 July 1905, K.P., vol. 30.

2; pthill to Brodrick, 27 July 1904, Ampthill Papers, vol. 37.

Jgovt. of India to Secy of Stabe, 18 August 1904, P.S.L.I., vol. 168,
Reg. No. 1558.
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if the policy of peaceful penetratiom is actively:r
pursued all along the border, we shall add seriously
to our responsibilities, while our relations with
the Amir will become closer and more delicate.

In October of the sesme year the Cabinet discussed the issuve
and decided .against any departure from the policy as laid down

. 2 . . . .
in 1898. Curzon, then in England, wrote a minute supporting

the Cabinet's deoision.j

Meanwhile, the Indian government, while preparing for the
despatch of a mission to XKabul, to conclude a fresh treaty with
Afghanistan, suggested to the Home government that the Amir be
addressed on the subject of intrigues and raids on the border.
Ampthill explained:

Qur attitude should. be firm and uncompromising, and

the Amir should be told in an uwmmistakable language

that he will be held to the engagement of 1893, and

that any interference or intriguing with the tribes

on our side of the boundary that may be fixed under

the Durand ASreement will be regarded as an unifriendly
act and a most serious violation of that Agreement,
vhich may necessitate our taking measures to prevent

the possibility of such action on his part in the future.

4

Louis Dane, the leader of the Mission, was instructed accordingly.

'1bia.

2500y, of State to Govt. of India, 28 October 1904, ibid.
jl\’.{orley to Minto, 8 January, 1908, M,P., vol. 3.

4GOV‘l:. of India to Secy. of State, 22 September 1904, P.S.S5.F.,
vol. %%, 1904, Iile No. 1776, Reg. No. 1776.

Ppide Memoire for Dane, enclosed in Brodrick to Ampthill, 20
October 1904, Ampthill Pacers, vol. 37.




In December Dane raised the issue with the Amir. In March 1905
after signing his treaty with the Government of India the Amir
informed Dane that he had appointed a committee of seven p ersons
to deal with the general question of frontier crimes and control
of the outlaws. Dane hoped that the Amir's "Septemvirate!" would
cooperate with the British officers on the frontier, but later
it was found that no such committee was ever formed. However,
after the treaty, there was a temporary cessation of raids, creat-
ing in the Govermment some hope that the tribe had changed its
hostile attitude; this hope socon proved illusory.

From the middle of 1905 until the beginning of 1208 the
Zakka Khel, with the assistance of the Orakzais and the Hazarnao
gang, a band of Afghan outlaws, perpetrated a series of daring
raids into British territory. Wive raiding gangs were organised
under the most notorious elders of the Kabul party, Dadai, Usman,
Multan, Guibaz and Mphammad Afzal. Peaceful villages well within
the administered districts were raided, border military posts
were attacked, Government property robbed, British Military Police
constables and British subjects abducted. The efforts of the Afridi
j;gggg and Maliks to bring the raiders to their senses did not
succeed. In July 1906 the Zaklkka Khel wreaked vengeance on an
elder of their own section for assisting the Governmeat in the
capture of a few Afghan outlaws; they thus meted out what they

claimed to be an
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